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From the Command Tent

  
    What a great time we had in Lima!  Kudos to both Cindy and Betsy for all the hard work they did.  The food was fantastic, and it was a thrill being in Memorial Hall where we know that the walls echoed from the footfalls of the men who served in the 4th OVC!  It was a reunion not to be forgotten and will be talked about for many years to come.


Some things did come out of the meeting.  First, the officers who had been serving were reelected:  Bill Krebs as President, Rick Grove as President of Vice, I mean Vice President, Cathy Popham as Secretary/Treasurer.  There was a new addition as the members voted for an increase of the Board as we grow.  For every 50 members, a Member at Large will be elected by the membership.  Bob Venable is our first Member at Large and we welcome him to the Board.  Bob has been a de facto member for many a year, but now has voting privileges.


We also agreed to hire Brad Quinlin, a historian and genealogist from TN to glean all the information that Washington, DC has on the 4th.  Brad will get us the entire mother’s pension, the regimental books, court martial records, muster rolls and usually gets 85 Civil War letters per regiment.  We expect it to be 5 CD Disks of information.  It will take us some time to process all this information and when we do the data on your ancestor will be available to you at no charge.  As soon as we have it processed, we will notify everyone through the newsletter and by snail mail to those who do not have internet.

We also passed an amendment that allows voting on issues to be done electronically and by snail mail for those who can’t make it to the reunions.  Notifications will be mailed out at least 30 days in advance.  Cathy will be sending out notices for the dues in January and will ask at that time, that you check the information we have and verify it.  We will also be issuing members address books of all of our members so that you may contact other members in your area and get to know them.  This will come out after we have gotten the forms back with the verifications. So please respond to it.

We are looking into making a replica of the regimental flag.  Once we have determined the cost, we will make copies of it available to the membership.  These flags will be for indoor use only and not intended to be flown outside.  The original flag was made of silk but we will be using a cheaper and more durable substitute.  More information will be coming on this.


We also decided on not having a reunion next year but will have our next reunion at Selma, AL in April 2015 to coincide with the 150th anniversary of the Battle of Selma in which the 4th played the key role.  We hope that you can make this event as it promises to be a fantastic reunion.


Looking forward to continue to serve you,










Bill Krebs










President                                                                                                                               
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4th OVCDA Reunion

Lima, Ohio

Aug 15–18, 2013

By Bob Venable

At least 33 soldiers of the 4th OVC are buried in 16 cemeteries in Allen County, Ohio.  Consequently, the eighth reunion of the 4th Ohio Volunteer Cavalry Descendants Association was held there August 15 to 18, 2013 to honor those deceased heroes.  Our members, sisters Cindy Freed and Betsy Potts, residents of the county, organized the entire event; and what an excellent job they did.  We were based at the Wingate Inn in downtown Lima, the county seat.  It was quickly evident that the hotel staff was probably the friendliest most of the attendees have ever encountered on the road.
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Members in attendance: Standing – Miriam Venable, Betsy Potts, Cindy Freed, Kathy Popham, Barb Venable,.  Seated – Bill Krebs, Steve Popham, Bob Venable
Thursday, August 15                 
Upon arrival in Lima, Bill Krebs and Bob Venable visited two downtown sites that have meaning to Rene Tanner a member in California who was unable to attend the reunion.  Her Great-Great-Grandfathers served in the 4th OVC and both were buried from local churches.  PVT Henry S. Reeves was buried from his home with the pastor of Trinity Methodist Episcopal Church officiating.
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Trinity Methodist Episcopal Church

SGT Charles Curtis was buried from Market Street Presbyterian Church but we discovered that a new church building had replaced the old one after Charles died.  Shown here is a picture of the old church as it was when he died.
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Market Street Presbyterian Church

Thursday evening, Betsy and Cindy hosted the Meet-N-Greet at Memorial Hall, just a block from the hotel.  The Hall was built for the 1908 G.A.R. Encampment that year.  It is a magnificent structure, both inside and out as is evident from this sampling of pictures.
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Memorial Hall
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Memorial Hall main foyer
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Memorial Hall grand staircase
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Memorial Hall skylight


Cindy had prepared a brochure on the history of the Hall and she and Betsy gave us a guided tour of the facility – very informative.  Memorial Hall currently houses various civic and other organizations, including the Navy Club.  It was in the Club’s room that Betsy and Cindy treated us to a home cooked barbeque dinner with all the trimmings as well as “goody bags” for all members.  It was the perfect venue for the other members to meet our hosts who are relatively new to the Association.

Friday, August 16 

Our day commenced, after the complimentary hotel breakfast, with a visit to Woodlawn Cemetery in Lima where we decorated the graves of nine 4th OVC soldiers, all from Company F except as otherwise noted: PVT Reason Bryan, PVT Charles Curies, Blacksmith Frederick Herold, Co. A & E, PVT Elisha Maguire, SGT Henry Reel, PVT Henry S. Reeves, Co. C & D, QM SGT David Nelson Shade, 1LT John Shade, and PVT Hiram Stotts, Jr.

[image: image9.jpg]



Decorated grave of PVT Charles Curtis
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Decorated grave of QM SGT Henry Reeves
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As shown above, we also decorated the Civil War memorial at Woodlawn to honor all of the 4th OVC soldiers buried in Allen County at cemeteries which time would not permit us to visit


We lunched at the nearby Lulu’s Diner before proceeding to the MacDonell House, a perfectly preserved Victorian shingle-style mansion built by Frank Banta, a wealthy local businessman, and later owned by oil magnate John W. Van Dyke.  You have to see it to believe it.  
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The MacDonell House
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McDonell House stained glass window
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Some of our group at the MacDonell House

Next was a visit to the Allen County Museum which is adjacent to the MacDonell House.  It holds extensive collections, too numerous to review here, highlighting all aspects of the county’s history, among which is a collection dealing with the Civil War.
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Allen County Museum
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Part of the Museum’s Civil War collection


Dinner on Friday is impossible to describe.  We ate buffet style at the Old Barn Out Back.  The selection of salads, main dishes, fruits, and desserts was truly remarkable.  Needless to say, copious amounts of nourishment were consumed which was hard to believe given the amount of chatter and laughter prevailing amongst us.


Upon returning to the hotel, Barb and Bob Venable and Bill Krebs felt adventurous so they proceeded to walk a block to the Lima Town Square for that week’s edition of the ArtSpace/Lima Rally in the Square concert featuring Jim Miller and the Hipsters.  The music was fine but we decided to view the art exhibit and sale in the ArtSpace gallery.  Not having purchased any art work, it was time to retire.

Saturday, August 17

Hotel buffets furnish good food, not that we needed any breakfast after the Old Barn the night before.  But our intrepid bunch soldiered on and spent the morning visiting Spencerville Cemetery in western Allen County and Rockport Methodist Cemetery in the northeast.  

[image: image21.jpg]



Rockport Methodist Church

At Spencerville, we decorated the graves of five 4th OVC soldiers, all of Company I: Bugler William Berryman, CPL Charles M. Briggs (pictured), PVT Frederick Conkel, PVT William W. Counts, and PVT Benjamin L. Winans.
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At Rockport, we decorated four of our soldiers’ graves, all Company F: SGT William N. Jagger, the Grandfather of noted actor Dean Jagger, Musician Daniel Millikin, PVT Salathiel D. Millikin, and PVT James R. Vanmeter.  James is the first cousin, 4 times removed, of both Cindy Freed and Betsy Potts.
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Cindy Freed at the grave of James Vanmeter

James’ grave was already decorated with a larger flag but we supplied a smaller one also.  In fact, you will notice that the grave marker is flanked by two small flags.  That is because James had a brother George in the 4th but who was shot and killed near Florence, Alabama while serving with the 9th OVC.  It is not known where George is buried, so we commemorated him at Rockport.


Friday afternoon was free time during which most of us rested, but not before carryout lunch of burgers and malts from local favorite Kewpee’s, a short half-block from the Wingate.  Bill Krebs, Steve Popham and Bob Venable took a short drive to the location of Camp Lima, a short-lived Civil War training camp where it is remotely possible that some 4th OVC soldiers from Allen County were recruited.  Hover Park and an Army National Guard building now occupy the land.
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Site of former Camp Lima

Dinner at Milano Café Old World Italian & Bar was another adventure.  The service was excellent as was the food in large portions.  Returning to the hotel, we held our business meeting in a corner of the dining area of the lobby.  We were not disturbed and hopefully did not disturb the very few people who strolled through.


It is normally beyond the scope of this article to cover the meeting.  Secretary/Treasurer Kathy Popham will send a copy of her minutes to all members when she sends the next dues reminder in January, 2014.  However, President Bill Krebs and I agreed that I should include four items from the agenda because of their importance:

1.  We voted to spend $625 to have a noted Civil War historian and researcher secure all of the material on the 4th OVC from his sources in Washington, D.C.  Similar efforts on behalf of other regiments have found boatloads of documents and letters.  Our By-laws state that we are to educate others about the 4th OVC and these materials will assist in meeting that goal.  We receive many requests for information through our web page and otherwise. 

2.  We adopted a measure to allow the Board to spend over $25 for expensive 4th OVC artifacts, subject to the availability of funds.  Members would then be permitted to purchase the items from the Association at cost plus shipping.

3.  Steve Popham will explore the possibility of producing a full sized replica of the 4th OVC battle flag to fly at reunions and other events like school presentations.

4.  The Military History Institute has 14 photographs of 12 of our soldiers.  While we do not have the funds to purchase copies at present, we may do so in the future, funds permitting.  Barb Venable generously stated that she would purchase four of the photographs at her expense ($25 per picture + shipping).


At the end of the business meeting, Bill Krebs presented Betsy and Cindy with Certificates of Appreciation for their outstanding work on the reunion and other projects.  There is no doubt they earned them, and more.
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Betsy receives her Certificate
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Cindy receives her Certificate


Recognition continued when Bob Venable surprised Bill Krebs with a Certificate thanking Bill for his outstanding service as President of the Association since 2004.
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Bob reads Bill’s Certificate

I would be remiss if I did not mention that our officers, President Bill Krebs, VP Rick Grove, and Secretary-Treasurer Kathy Popham were re-elected for another term and Bob Venable was elected to the newly established position of Board Member-At-Large.

Sunday, August 18

Sunday was get-away day so no activities were planned.  Everyone expressed their appreciation to Betsy and Cindy for their hospitality and all agreed this was a very successful and productive reunion.

Note:  All pictures used in this article were supplied by the author except that of the Market Street Presbyterian Church which was secured from a web page that I have been unable to find again since I downloaded the picture.  I apologize for that error.
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Reading what is etched in stone

Prepared by: Ruby Coleman 


Cemeteries and tombstones are a fascinating part of doing genealogical research. While the best part of this research is going to a cemetery, you can also learn a good deal by researching cemeteries on Internet. Study the tombstones because there may be significant clues that pertain to your ancestor ... etched in stone. 


There is usually more than names, initials and dates on stones. Your ancestor's personality may be reflected on the tombstone. There may be carvings, icons, statues, epitaphs, scripture and emblems. Some of the carvings on a stone may be typical of a particular area of the United States. Once you view tombstones in New England cemeteries, you will soon realize that many of them have winged skulls and skulls and cross bones carved on them. The winged skulls represent the flight of the soul, whereas the skull and cross bones symbolize death. 


Many tombstones had flowers carved on them. The flowers that appear to be open and blooming signify resurrection and renewal. Ivy on a tombstone signifies memory and fidelity. Lily signifies purity and resurrection. Roses are usually symbolic of sorrow. 


Another common symbol seen on tombstones is that of hand pointing upward. This symbol points to the heavens meaning ascension into heaven. The handshake on a stone is a farewell to the earthly body. I have also heard that it is a greeting from a loved one who has gone before. It definitely signifies some type of relationship. Look closely at the hands and the cuffs. They will usually show a male and female hand and cuff. The hands may also be a parent and child. 


Angels adorn tombstones and come in a variety of sizes. They are symbolic of the messenger acting as a guide for the deceased. Those who weep symbolize grief. Tombstones of infants often have cherubs and angels on them. Some may have lambs which symbolize meekness, sacrifice and innocence. 


We have no way of knowing if the deceased selected the tombstone before his or her death. They most likely were chosen by the family after the death. Therefore, you should look closely at the dates. How long after the death was the stone placed on the grave? When I could not find a newspaper obituary or even a death announcement for an ancestor, I eventually turned to a newspaper index and discovered the date of death on her tombstone is wrong by over a year. 


Fancy and large tombstones are usually clues that the deceased or family was affluent. However, small tombstones of simplicity may have appealed to the affluent as well. Some tombstones contain information as to the cause of death, military service and whether the spouse is alive or dead. The word "consort" on a woman's tombstone means that her husband survived her. The word "relict" on a woman's tombstone means that her husband predeceased her. 


Epitaphs are often familiar sayings, but when you spot something unusual, it may contain some clues as to the thoughts or traditions of the deceased or their family. Scriptures are often a favorite verse from the Bible, but they may be symbolic of the way your ancestor lived. 


Your ancestor may have an emblem on their tombstone which pertains to a social organization, such as the Masons, Order of the Eastern Star, Woodmen of the World, Daughters of the American Revolution and Grand Army of the Republic. There are hundreds of organizations and symbols that you might find on the stone or as free standing markers near the tombstone. The records of these organizations may contain more information about your ancestor. 


Military tombstones often have a cross or Star of David on them. There are Protestant Crosses, Celtic Crosses and more. Study the crosses and you may learn more about your ancestor's religious preference. 


If you are interested in looking at tombstones on Internet, there are many to be found on personal web pages. You can use a search engine to find them simply by putting in a surname, location and/or cemetery. Another excellent web page to explore is FindAGrave.com. 


Cemeteries are places of history. They span decades and centuries and are monuments to people as well as culture. Walk through a cemetery sometime without looking for an ancestor's grave in particular. What do you see? As in life, you will see that the deceased are remembered by a variety of tombstones in all shapes and colors and styles. Cemeteries are history for each and every one of us, even if we don't have relatives buried there. 
Source Information: Tracing Lines, New Providence, NJ, USA: Genealogy Today LLC, 2009. [image: image28.wmf]
About Ruby Coleman 


Ruby Coleman is a genealogical author, professional researcher, lecturer, instructor and free-lance writer. She has written articles on genealogical computing for AntiqueWeek. 


She is a contributing writer for Computer Interest Group Newsletter of the Colorado Genealogical Society/Computer Interest Group, Denver, CO and the Illinois State Genealogical Society publications. Her special interest is in genealogical computing and genealogical research of the Plains States with primary focus on Iowa and Nebraska. 
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Online Creative Writing Guide
By Ursa Kos 



If you are looking for an easy way to improve your writing skills and get a feedback from your readers, online creative writing is a perfect way to start. Through blogging and social media tools you can find your way to express yourself and connect to readers around the world. You can do it in your free time and better yet, online creative writing can even become your additional source of income.

Platforms and Style
Internet offers every budding writer a wide array of resources. From free blogging platforms to different types of social media - it is a space with unlimited potential that opens you a door to an exciting word of online creative writing. You have a complete freedom to choose the creative style and find your own expression.

Are you interested in poetry, short stories, fiction or have a specific topic that you would like to discuss online? The choice is yours. Everyone can find an audience on the Internet. If you are not sure how to begin, just begin writing short stories about your daily life, trips and adventures or articles about your hobbies and topics that interest you.

Online Creative Writing Tricks
There are several tips and tricks that will turn your stories and copies into hits. Begin with great headlines that will tell a story and attract attention of readers. First scene or paragraph has to draw the readers in and leave them wanting more. If you will add humor and personality to your writing you are on a good way to success.

It is also incredibly important that you don't combine writing and editing. Never edit your stories while you are writing. This is a good way to killing your creativity in the bud.

Having Trouble Finding Inspiration?
It is all around you. Look for it in everyday life, office, hobbies, blogs, magazines and books you read, on TV and radio. Let your creativity flow and you will find inspiration in no time.

Online Creative Writing Classes
There are a lot of creative writing classes available online. Simply do a search on your favorite search engine and you will find a wide array of free or payable classes. You can also try your luck on YouTube - an endless source of free videos on the topic, or find tips numerous websites and blogs.

Online Creative Writing as a Source of Income
Everyone have heard of bloggers that became famous by simply expressing their views and telling their stories. They all have two things in common - they are original and interesting. If they can do it maybe you can too. Maybe you will not become a famous writer (although this may happen if you are really good), but it can become your additional source of income.

You can turn your writing skills into profit with online marketing or offer your expertise to marketing companies and website owners who are always searching for good and affordable writers. Search engine optimization (SEO) skills such as using the right keywords are almost always required in such gigs. These skills will also help your website achieve better rankings on search engines so you will receive more visitors.

There are several platforms that allow freelance writers to find work and earn some extra income. The competition is tough, but with talent, reasonable prices and the right attitude you can come a long way.

Publish Your Work
There are a lot of options to publish your work online. We have already mentioned blogs and social media, but there are a lot of other options. You can create your own website or publish an Amazon Kindle e-book. Free article directories are always in search of quality articles. How about Squidoo? You can create and maintain a Squidoo lens and maybe even earn some money with ads on your lens.

Online you are often the only editor so be critical, but not too critical. Experience the possibilities and opportunities the Internet offers to you.

Internet is a great platform for online creative writing that can help you improve your writing skills, gives you feedback from audience around the world and even helps you turn your hobby into additional source of income. So try your luck and find your place on the World Wide Web.

Discover quality online creative writing services, articles, free online creative writing classes, seminars and more. On our site you will find great deals on effective SEO articles, keyword research, product descriptions and reviews for your website.

Article Source: http://EzineArticles.com/?expert=Ursa_Kos 


Odd News from Around the World

It would take dawn McManus of Hartlepool, England a long time to sign a document with her new, full name.  Ms. McManus legally changed her name to “Red Dreams”.  However, in between that first and last name are 159 other names that represent the people that her charity (also called Red Dreams) have helped since it was established following the death of her son.  The charity helps young people pursue careers in acting, singing, or film making. Ms.  Dreams explained that she changed her name to help raise money for the charity.
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Did You Know?

       Bob Venable


Did you know that one of our 4th OVC soldiers bore the name of our national symbol, the eagle?  That was SGT Peter W. Eagle, Company D.  No, I do not know if he was also a “bald” eagle. 


Peter was born on November 15, 1832 in Miami Township, Montgomery County, Ohio.  His paternal grandfather, Peter, was a farmer who moved from Pennsylvania to the township where he married Anna Hanger.  They had 10 children, the youngest being another Peter who at age 18 married Mary Wetzel, daughter of Tobias and Mary Wetzel.  The 1850 Census says that couple had five children:

1. David, 1826-1894; married Elizabeth nee unknown

2. Anna, 1826-1891; married Alexander Fox

3. Catherine, 1828-1891; married Jonathan Reedy

4. Peter W., our 4th OVC soldier

5. Mary, 1843-1859


Peter W. Eagle enlisted in the 4th OVC on November 22, 1861 and was appointed as a sergeant in Company D.  He had the misfortune of being one of those captured by Confederate John Hunt Morgan at Ashland, the estate of Henry Clay, in Lexington, Kentucky, on October 18, 1862, but was immediately paroled.  Peter was discharged on March 31, 1863 on a surgeon’s certificate of disability.


Back home in Ohio, Peter settled in Miamisburg, about two miles from his parents where he married Elizabeth L. Fox, daughter of George and Elizabeth (Link) Fox.  Elizabeth L. was born October 1, 1830 in Clear Creek, Warren County, Ohio.  She died before having any children in Miamisburg on October 22, 1868 and is buried in Gebhart Church Cemetery, Miamisburg where Peter’s parents, grandparents, and Aunt Mary are also buried.  
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Grave of Elizabeth L. Eagle

Peter remarried to Catherine S. Stanton on May 25, 1871 in Hamilton County, Ohio.  She was born December 22, 1850 in Liverpool, England to Thomas and Mary (Flaherty) Stanton.  Peter and Catherine had 10 children, six of whom were living at the time of the 1880 Census:

1. Peter Stanton, May 2, 1873-?; married Mary J. Klein

2. Harry Joseph, Jan, 1876-Oct, 1954

3. Thomas Leveret, Dec 13, 1878-?

4. Beatrice, Nov 13, 1887-Dec, 1976; married Orville Harrington of Alton, OH Jun 18, 1908 in Montgomery County

5. Stanley Eugene, Dec 22, 1889-Dec 22, 1932; divorced; bond salesman

6. Genevieve E., Jun 1894-Feb, 1984; married Unknown Campbell


Peter W. Eagle was a tobacco merchant by trade.  An old 1897 history of Dayton and Montgomery County, Ohio states that he belonged to the Lutheran Church, was a Democrat, and a member of the Grand Army of the Republic and the Ancient Order of United Workmen, a post-Civil War fraternal organization providing mutual social and financial support, including death insurance.  Quoting, it says “he is greatly respected socially, while as a business man he enjoys the confidence of both the city and farming communities.”


Peter died on December 5, 1907 in Miamisburg.  Catherine, being 18 years younger, lived until February 7, 1940.  Both are buried in Hill Grove Cemetery, Miamisburg along with four of their children, Harry, Beatrice, Stanley and Genevieve, Peter’s Uncle David, and his Aunts Anna and Catherine.  It is interesting that Catherine has a military headstone to match her husband’s.  The Department of Veterans Affairs is not authorized to furnish headstones for spouses buried in non-government cemeteries.  However, some private monument companies will sell matching headstones to spouses.
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Graves of Peter W. & Catherine S. Eagle

Sources for this article include:

http://www.findagrave.com/cgi-bin/fg.cgi?page=gr&GSln=eagle&GSfn=peter&GSbyrel=all&GSdyrel=all&GSst=37&GScntry=4&GSob=n&GRid=67390728&df=all& 

http://www.itd.nps.gov/cwss/
http://www.nps.gov/civilwar/search-soldiers-detail.htm?soldier_id=93f00999-dc7a-df11-bf36-b8ac6f5d926a 

http://www.daytonhistorybooks.citymax.com/page/page/1706444.htm
Official Roster of the Soldiers of the State of Ohio in the War of the Rebellion (Werner Printing, Akron, OH 1891).
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ancien_Order_of_United_Workmen 

http://www.cem.va.gov/hmm
Centennial Portrait and Biographical Record of the City of Dayton and of Montgomery County, Ohio, Edited by Frank Conover (Copyright 1897). 
Ten Years Ago …
The 4th Ohio Volunteer Cavalry Newsletter for Fall 2003-Winter 2004 debuted Bob Venable’s long-running “Did You Know?” and “Research Tips” columns.  


Our founder, Nancy Findley, alerted the membership that the Association would have a table at the Mansfield, Ohio Civil War Show the following May.  Help is needed to man the display.


4th OVC polo shirts, with the Association logo, went on sale for $15.  As with our hats, profits were earmarked for our “Save the Flag Fund.”
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Around

 The 

Campfire
Welcome to our newest members: John Gillaspy (Col John Kennett) and his family, Mary, Elizabeth, and Sean.  They are in Lubbock, TX.

Welcome to Sharon Grove.  She is the wife of our Vice-President Rick Grove. 
Bill Krebs, our President, recently had a losing bout with poison ivy.  The final score was poison ivy 3, Bill 0.  He has since recovered, retired, and living the life of ease. 
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Tombstones 
–Bill Krebs 

OK.  You’re all set.  You’ve taken note of the layout of the cemetery.  You’ve notice the shape of the stone and if it is a military

stone.  But now you have come across a big problem.  One that seems to render everything you’ve done a waste of time and energy.  You can’t read the inscription!  You feel like that cur dog with its tail between its legs.  What do you do now?  Don’t give up the ship!  There are three things that I advise to try first.


Try taking digital pictures at different angles.  Karen and I were doing some cemetery research looking for members of her family.  We came across two that we couldn’t read.  One was in German. A good German-English dictionary and a friend, who took German in school, helped us out with that one.  But the other one…  The etching was so worn that we could not make out half the words.  I took a few photographs with my digital camera anyway.  When we got home after completing our research in that cemetery, I downloaded the pictures we had taken.  What to my surprise?  The inscriptions that we couldn’t read showed up plainly on the screen.  Most cameras have a filter that blocks bright sunlight and will change the color and brightness of the object you just photographed.  Don’t believe the color change.  Just compare it to the actual object.  Unlike nature, camera (and computers, too) have a limited color range.


But what about if you can’t read the stone because it’s either moss or lichen covered?  There is a way to clean off the stone without damaging it.  I found a number of wrong ways on the internet to clean a stone including using a wire brush.  Never, ever use a brush on a headstone.  You can do irreparable damage to it.  I contacted Leroy Squires, the Superintendent of Cave Hill Cemetery here in Louisville.  Cave Hill is one the largest and one of the oldest cemeteries in Louisville.  Many Revolutionary War soldiers are buried here along with several sections being part of the National Cemetery system.  He advised me to have 2 large spray bottles.  In one, put in 1 cup of bleach per gallon of water.  Spray the stone with this solution and let it sit for 10-15 minutes.  Then, ideally, use a portable sprayer, like the ones they use for pesticides (make sure it is completely clean inside and there are no chemical residues left) and wash off the stone.  You can use a spray bottle but it will take more water to wash off the mixture.  Never rub!  Rubbing can damage a stone, especially as it will be an older one and probably very fragile.   The dirt and lichen should wash off.  Repeat this process as many times as necessary.  Be sure to rinse off the grass around the stone so it stays looking green.  Since you are using a diluted mixture and spraying it on, it will not affect the roots and kill the grass.  Only the blades need to be rinsed off.


The third thing I suggest is a rubbing.  Make sure you check with the office to see if it is even permitted.  There’s no problem with newer stones as they use harder materiel, but older ones may require special attention.  The best medium to use on this is either charcoal dust or crushed chalk and applied with a paint brush.  Be sure to rinse off the stone after you’re done.  For more information regarding this see Tombstone Rubbing on page 53. 
How can ONE ancestor cause so much trouble?

Gen. Sherman and Col. Eli Long 
Taken from Memoirs of William Tecumseh Sherman, Penguin Books; NY, NY, pages 351, 353=354.

On the 2dof December the army moved rapidly north toward Loudon, twenty-six miles distant. About 11 A.M. the cavalry passed to the head of the column, was ordered to push to Loudon, and, if possible, to save a pontoon bridge across the Tennessee, held by a brigade of the enemy commanded by General Vaughn. The cavalry moved with such rapidity as to capture every picket; but the brigade of Vaughn had artillery in position, covered by earthworks, and displayed a force too respectable to be carried by a cavalry dash, so that darkness closed in before general Howard's infantry got up. The enemy abandoned the place in the night, destroying the pontoons, running three locomotives and forty-eight cars into the Tennessee River, and abandoned much provision, four guns, and other material, which General Howard took at daylight. But the bridge was gone, and we were forced to turn east and trust to General Burnside's bridge at Knoxville. It was all-important that General Burnside should have notice of our coming, and but one day of the time remained.


Accordingly, at Philadelphia, during the night of the 2dof December, I sent my aide (Major Audenried) forward to Colonel Long (Col Eli Long commanded the 4th OVC after Col Kennett resigned due to ill health.  At this time, he was also in command of a brigade of cavalry – ed.), commanding the brigade of cavalry at Loudon, to explain to him how all-important it was that notice of our approach should reach General Burnside within twenty-four hours, ordering him to select the best materials of his command, to start at once, ford the Little Tennessee, and push into Knoxville at whatever the cost of life and horse-flesh. Major Audenried was ordered to go along. The distance to be traveled was about forty miles, and the roads villainous. Before day they were off, and at daylight the Fifteenth Corps was turned from Philadelphia for the Little Tennessee at Morgantown, where my maps represented the river as being very shallow; but it was found too deep for fording, and the water was freezing cold - width two hundred and forty yards, depth from two to five feet: horses could ford, but artillery and men could not...


By the 9thall our troops were in position, and we held the rich country between the Little Tennessee and the Hiawassee. The cavalry under Colonel Long, passed the mountain at Tellico, and proceeded about seventeen miles beyond Murphy, when Colonel Long, deeming his further pursuit of the wagon-train useless, returned on the 12th to Tellico. I then ordered him and the division of General Morgan L. Smith to move to Charleston, to which point I had previously ordered the corps of General Howard.


On the 14th of December all of my command in the field lay along the Hiawassee.

Having communicated to General Grant the actual state of affairs, I received orders to leave, on the line of the Hiawassee, all the cavalry, and come to Chattanooga with the rest of my command. I left the brigade of cavalry commanded by Colonel Long, reinforced by the Fifth Ohio Cavalry (Lieutenant-Colonel Heath}-the only cavalry properly belonging to the Fifteenth Army Corps - at Charleston, and with the remainder moved by easy marches, by Cleveland and Tyners's Depot into Chattanooga... 
Civil War Quotes:
Jefferson Davis: 

If the Confederacy falls, there should be written on its tombstone: Died of a Theory.
Abraham Lincoln:
America will never be destroyed from the outside. If we falter and lose our freedoms, it will be because we destroyed ourselves.
Mark Twain:

If you don't read the newspaper you are uninformed, if you do read the newspaper you are
misinformed.

[image: image90.png]


Timeline 4th OVC
Oct – Dec. 1863
Battle of Waldron Ridge, TN Oct 1, 1863


The only supply line that was not controlled by the Confederates was a roundabout, tortuous course nearly 60 miles long over Walden's Ridge from Bridgeport, Alabama. Heavy rains began to fall in late September, washing away long stretches of the mountain roads. On October 1, Maj. Gen. Joseph Wheeler's Confederate cavalry intercepted and severely damaged a train of 800 wagons—burning hundreds of the wagons, and shooting or sabering hundreds of mules—at the start of his October 1863 Raid through Tennessee to sever Rosecrans's supply line.

Skirmish at McMinnville, TN Oct 4, 1863

Gen. Joseph Wheeler, CSA, attacks McMinnville and spent the evening of October 4 destroying the railroad around McMinnville. He skirmishes with the 4th OVC.  Union forces consisted of:  INDIANA--3d Cavalry (3d Battalion); 17th and 72d Mounted Infantry, KENTUCKY--2d Cavalry, MICHIGAN--4th Cavalry, OHIO--1st, 3d, 4th and 10th Cavalry. Union loss, 7 killed, 31 wounded, 350 captured and missing for a total of 388. Believe that one of the dead is an unknown 4th OVC.  Believe that Charles Kline, Cpl Co M, is captured.  It is known that he was captured at McMinnville, but date is uncertain. 
Battle of Farmington, TN Oct 7, 1863The Battle of Farmington, Tennessee was fought October 7, 1863 in Farmington, Marshall County, Tennessee as part of Confederate Major General Joseph Wheeler's October 1863 Raid in the American Civil War. The battle was fought as Wheeler was retreating back to the Confederate lines. Following a Union cavalry charge, the Confederates were routed, with an entire regiment deserting. Union forces included: ILLINOIS--Board of Trade Battery Light Arty.; 92d, 98th and 123d Mounted Infantry; INDIANA--17th and 72d Mounted Infantry; KENTUCKY--2d Cavalry; OHIO--1st, 3d and 4th Cavalry. Union loss, 15 killed, 60 wounded for a total of 75 men.
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Memorial to dead Confederates at Farmington, TN.
Skirmish at Sugar Creek, TN Oct. 9, 1863
1st Sgt. Charles F Heckler, Co M, is wounded and captured at Foster Cross Roads, TN on 10/30/1863.
Lookout Valley, TN 11/3/1863

While Major General William T. Sherman's 15th Army Corps were in the process of marching to the relief of Chattanooga, TN, Confederate Brigadier General James R. Chalmers led a second attack on Collierville, TN in the Lookout Valley. However, Union Colonel Edward Hatch possessed more men than Chalmers believed he had. Scouts (cavalry) warned Hatch of Chalmers's approach from the south, so he ordered Collierville's defenders to be prepared and rode from Germantown with cavalry reinforcements. General Chalmers, as he had done only three weeks earlier, attacked from the south with Colonels Benjamin McCulloch's and W.F. Slemon's brigades. The Union soldiers repulsed the attack and Chalmers, concluding that he was outnumbered, called off the battle, and, withdrew back to Mississippi. The battle resulted in an estimated 60 Union casualties and 95 Confederate. In the meantime, the Memphis & Charleston Railroad remained open to Tuscumbia, Alabama, for Union troop movements.
Charles Bradley, Pvt Co M, is wounded at Chattanooga, TN on 11/8/1863.

Skirmish at Winchester, TN 11/22/1863
Nov. 24-27 Campaign, Chattanooga and Ringgold and Raid on East Tennessee & Georgia RR 
Skirmish at Missionary Ridge, TN 11/25/1863
Skirmish at Charleston, TN on 11/26/1863. Union forces:  ILLINOIS--98th Mounted Infantry; INDIANA--17th Mounted Infantry; MICHIGAN--4th Cavalry; OHIO-1st, 3d and 4th Cavalries.
Skirmish at Cleveland, TN 11/27/1863.  

Cpl David Sutton, Co A, is captured. He dies at Andersonville on 8/27/1864.
John W Hatfield, Pvt Co A, dies of disease.

Nov. 27-Dec. 8, 1863 March to relief of Knoxville

Skirmish at Loudon, TN 12/2/1863

On December 3, 1863 in order to prevent Union General William T. Sherman's troops from using the Loudon Bridge, the Confederate army burned what remained of the railroad bridge. They ran 3-4 engines and 50-100 boxcars off the end of the burned bridge into the Tennessee River. The wreckage was not recovered from the river until the 1880s. General Sherman's advanced cavalry reached Loudon on December 4, 1863. Sherman's forces skirmished with the retreating Confederates around Loudon during December 4-5, 1863.
Dec. 6-11, 1863 Expedition to Murphey, N. C
Joseph (Cpl) and Samuel (Pvt) Loomis, both of Co F die on same day, 12/23/1863 at Murfreesboro, TN.
William C Douthwaite, Pvt Co D, dies sometime before 12/24/1863

Frank Fry, Pvt Co A, dies in Danville, VA prison as a POW on 12/25/1863.  He was captured during the Battle of Chickamauga on 9/20/1863.
Skirmish and Action at Charleston, TN 12/27/1863 
Humor:
In most large cemeteries, you will probably find an epitaph that goes something like this one found in Waynesville, North Carolina:

Effie Jean Robinson

1897-1922
Come blooming youths, as you pass by,

And on these lines do cast an eye.

As you are now, so once was I;

As I am now, so must you be;

Prepare for death and follow me.

Which is not funny at all, but underneath, someone had added:

To follow you 

I am not content,

How do I know 

Which way you went?

Trees without roots fall over
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Cooking Period… 
Karen Krebs

New England Boiled Dinner

1 head cabbage, cut up


4-8 red potatoes washed and halved or quartered depending on size

1 bag baby carrots

2-3 lbs ham cut in chunks

2 qt water

In large Dutch oven, add the above ingredients.  Boil with the lid on until everything is tender.  Serve with Johnny Cakes (self rising corn meal, egg, water or milk and fried like pancakes) or corn bread.  Serves 6-8 people. 
Three great essentials to achieve anything worthwhile are, first, hard work; second, stick-to-itiveness; third, common sense.

- Thomas Edison
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Civil War Poetry
DRAGOON'S SONG

by George Henry Boker
(1823-1890, 1st MA. Cav.)
Clash, clash goes the sabre against my steed's side,

Kling, kling go the rowels, as onward I ride;

And all my bright harness is living and speaks,

And under my horseshoes the frosty ground creaks;

I wave my buff glove to the girl whom I love,

Then join my dark squadron, and forward I move.

The foe, all secure, has lain down by his gun;

I'll open his eyelids before the bright sun.

I burst on his pickets; they scatter, they fly;

Too late they awaken,--'t is only to die.

Now the torch to their camp; I'll make it a lamp,

As back to my quarters so slowly I tramp.

Kiss, kiss me, my darling! your lover is here.

Nay, kiss off the smoke-stains; keep back that bright tear;

Keep back that bright tear till the day when I come,

To the low wailing fife and deep muffled drum,

With a bullet half through this bosom so true,

To die, as I ought, for my country and you. 
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Brass Buttons

 Cindy Freed
A Hero Twice Over

George S. Vanmeter born in 1841 was the third of seven children of parents John and Rachel Stevenson Vanmeter. John and Rachel had deep roots in Putnam County, Ohio. Both were born there, they married there and started their family there nestled in a prosperous farming community.


Certainly George's closest friend and playmate growing up was his brother James. Only 22 months younger, James and George were close. Their reliance on each other was strengthened when the family left their home, grandparents, numerous aunts, uncles and cousins to live in Lucas County, Ohio. Quite a distance from their relatives and friends the family farmed in their new location. The close ties to each other that would develop in Lucas County came to a screeching halt when John the family patriarch died in 1851.


George was only 10 years old when his father died. Along with his siblings he brought his father's body back to Putnam County to be buried. Laid to rest among family members John Vanmeter's death rocked this family to its very core.


Mother Rachel could not support her seven children ranging in age from 13 years to baby John just over one year old. The children were sent to live with aunts and uncles in the area. Their family was broken apart.


George and James lived in different households for a few years. Living with extended family they were able to see each other at church and other gatherings. Yet those years separated didn't diminish their brotherly love.


When politics became tumultuous in the early 1860's and war became a reality the Vanmeter brothers were quick to answer the president's call for troops. Together both young men, George 20 years old and James now 18 joined Co. F, 4th Ohio Volunteer Cavalry in the village of Rockport. They enlisted on September 6, and mustered in November 12, 1861.


The boys enlisted to serve their president, their country and maybe even to make their late father proud. Although in the same company, their time spent together soon ended as James was sick often with lung disease and spent much time in and out of the hospital. George went on serving gallantly with the 4th.    


The next events of George's life can only be stated as facts without a lot of details. He married Samantha Allison January 27, 1862 in Allen County, Ohio. Perhaps he had permission to leave his company long enough to go home to wed. Next George is listed in the hospital on May 14, 1862 in Murfreesboro, TN and then discharged with a surgeon’s certificate of disability (equivalent to a medical discharge today) on June 16, 1862. His enlistment in the 4th OVC was now complete. Going back home to join his bride, George and Samantha become the proud parents of a daughter Louisa on April 24, 1863.


But George's story doesn't end here following a long, happy life and a house full of children. Whether he missed the camaraderie of his cavalry mates, had an overwhelming urge to preserve the union, or he was pursued by a persistent enlistment officer, George did reenlist, this time in Co. G, 9th OVC. He was mustered in as a private on October 9, 1863 just 16 months after receiving his discharge from the 4th.


Spending a couple of months at Camp Dennison the newly formed unit joined the regiment and was assigned patrol duty along the Tennessee River at Athens and Florence Alabama. On April 12, 1864 Co. G was spending the night on a farmer's property near the river. George Vanmeter and a couple other men were on picket duty. The 27th and 35th Alabama completely surprised the men on picket duty, killing the three soldiers and capturing the larger part of the company along with their horses, mules and supplies. In that instant Samantha Vanmeter became a widow and Louisa a few days from her first birthday was fatherless. George Vanmeter was another casualty in the War of the Rebellion.   In a strange twist of fate George's brother James died seven weeks earlier at home on furlough. He succumbed to the continued illness and lung disease that wracked his body during his military service.


It's not known where George Vanmeter is buried. His death is listed as “near Florence Alabama”. Perhaps he's in an unmarked grave in a local cemetery or his final resting place is close to where he fell. In any event George gave “his last full measure” to his country.


George Vanmeter did not shirk his duty to his country even when an earlier injury would have made his service sufficient in the war effort. His dedication and loyalty pushed him on and are remembered here. May these few words be a lasting tribute to George Vanmeter's memory. 
You might be a caffeine addict if…
· you’ve just had your 20th cup of coffee within 20 minutes on a Friday afternoon, at 4 o’clock, just so “the milk doesn’t go bad over the weekend”

· you believe that the coffee bean is a vegetable.

· you’re on a first name basis with Juan Valdez ( Bruce Campbell) 

· your heart beats noticeably faster as a reaction to the smell of coffee. 

· you know from experience caffeine tablets don’t dissolve in cola. ( Tony Hall ) 

· you wake up to Mountain Dew, before switching to JOLT. 

· you can name the five flavors of JOLT. 

· every coffee company wants to have your picture on their packs of coffee powder. 

· your wife asked you to buy milk, bread and butter and you heard “buy coffee, coffee and coffee.” 

· your slogan is “Save water, drink coffee.”
· your child’s name is Nescafe.
· Starbucks has decided to use you as their official mascot. 

· you’ve ever carried your coffee cup into the shower with you in the morning.
· you have tattooed across the knuckles of your hands “JOLT” and “COLA” ( Zoe ) 
· your birthday is a national holiday in Colombia. 

· you go to sleep just to wake up and smell the coffee. 
· your coffee pot is next to your bed and your alarm clock is in the kitchen. 

· the dishes in your house are all coffee cups. (Ken McKinney) 

· your dog’s name is Folgers. (Ken McKinney)  
· it’s 6:09 AM and you’re on your 2nd 20oz. cup of coffee. 

· you have to drink some form of caffeinated beverage just to sleep. 

· you’d rather be beaten over the head with a sledgehammer than give up that first cup of coffee in the morning.  (Caffeine withdrawal is a real headache.)  

· you could live in a desert like a hermit, eating bugs for food, as long as you had enough coffee beans with you. 

· you dip espresso beans.
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Research Tip
Bob Venable

Research sources should come with a warning, like tobacco products or medicines.  “WARNING:  This material may not be accurate.”  In other words, don’t believe everything you read.  This applies to Civil War research also.  Some examples will show the problem.


There is an historical roadside marker in Woodford County, Kentucky honoring six Union and Confederate Civil War Generals with a connection to that county.  Major General Eli Long, one of those six, was born there and graduated from the Kentucky Military Institute.  The marker reads in part: “Organized 4th Ohio Cavalry as colonel, 1862”  
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Eli Long Historical Marker,

Woodford County, KY

In fact, Gen. Long did not organize the 4th OVC in 1862 or at any other time.  As is clear in all official records, the 4th OVC was organized by Col. John Kennett in Cincinnati on August 5, 1861.  So how did this error appear?  The answer lies in General Long’s military history.  After graduation from military school he was appointed a Second Lieutenant in the 1st U.S. Cavalry.  Promotions followed to First Lieutenant and Captain.  But on August 3, 1861, the Army renamed all the mounted units as Cavalry and re-designated them in order of seniority.  The 1st U.S. Cavalry became the 4th U.S. Cavalry.  Cpt. Long of the 4th U.S. Cavalry was wounded at the Battle of Stones River, TN on December 31, 1862.  So he was still a member of the 4th U.S. Cavalry at the time that the marker says he was organizing the 4th Ohio Cavalry.  It appears the error resulted from a confusion of the U.S. and Ohio regiments because they were both the 4th.  As the Official Roster reveals, Col. Long was not appointed to the 4th OVC until January 23, 1863 when Col. Kennett resigned.  


Another error example appears on http://www.findagrave.org.  The memorial page for SGT Peter W. Eagle of Company D states that he was born in 1821 and died in 1865.  A photograph of Eagle’s military headstone shows he was a sergeant in the 4th OVC but it has no dates on it.  Actually, Pvt. Eagle was born in 1832 and he died in 1907.  How these dates were entered in error on the web page is not clear.  Probably it is just an entry error where someone else’s dates were entered on Peter’s memorial page.  If you go to my “Did You Know?” article in this issue, you can read the rest of the story about PVT Peter W. Eagle and his family.


The lesson here is to be wary of any source of information.  Try to verify what you have found with other sources.  If there are conflicts, try to resolve them by finding other sources that agree with one side or the other.


Sources about PVT Eagle can be found in the “Did You Know?” article in this issue.  For Col/MG Long, see 

http://www.history.army.mil/books/R&H/R&H-4CV.htm  and 

http://www.quarterhorsecav.org/pg9.htm  
Civil War Fact:

The first military decoration formally authorized by the American government was, the Medal of Honor created by an act of Congress in December 1861 by Senator James W Grimes of Iowa. The Medal of Honor was awarded liberally during the Civil War to about 1,200 men. According to the act establishing the army medal, the award was to be given to those members of the armed forces who "shall distinguish themselves by their gallantry in action, and other soldier like qualities”. 
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POW Camps

Bill Krebs
We now proceed to the 2nd highest mortality rate in any POW camp.  Salisbury held a death rate of 25-28%.  However this high rate was only for a short time.  During most of its existence, the mortality rate was only 2%.
Beginnings


When the Civil War began in 1861 with the firing on Ft Sumpter, there were many aspects of the conflict that were completely unanticipated by the political and military leaders of both north and south.  The tremendous number of soldiers involved plus the advances made in technology, led to numbers of casualties that were unimaginable at the time.  At the start of the war no one was prepared to deal with those numbers, whether they tallied healthy men in the ranks, injured and sick men in the hospitals, or captured men under guard.  On May 20, 1861 North Carolina seceded from the Union while Henry Clark was Governor. 
1861 

 
Very early in the war the Confederacy realized the need to house POWs.  A call went out to several states by Confederate Secretary of War, L.P. Walker, asking for property to house POWs.  After a short time a location was selected in Salisbury. 


Salisbury had been established in 1755 and was the 5th largest city in North Carolina by 1860.  Gov. John W. Ellis himself was from Salisbury.  Much can be said for the prosperity and high standing of this area.  It was a major railroad hub and a farming center.  It was also far from the front lines of a coming civil war.  Salisbury and North Carolina responded [image: image97.jpg]


to this war with much fervor; supplying many goods and many men, probably many more men than most states.  Salisbury proved itself to be a very patriotic town.


An empty cotton factory, Maxwell Chamber’s mill, located near the main line railroad was selected.  Salisbury was to be North Carolina’s only prison during the Civil War. A purchase price of $15,000 was settled on November 2, 1861. The mill had a 20 year old brick building consisting of three stories in addition to an attic, and was surrounded by a number of small cottages on 16 acres of land.  The buildings were hastily converted as a prison compound with a wooden stockade encircling them. In the upper end of the stockade was a spring that supplied the water for the prison.  The lower end of the stream was the latrine area. There would also be trips made outside the prison to a nearby stream for fresh water unaware that bacteria could travel upstream.


The first surgeon to be named to the post, Dr Joseph W. Hall, was also from Salisbury.  Appointed to the position in January, 1861, he retained it until the war ended.  


Dr. Braxton Craven was named as the first Post Commandant.  Dr Craven at the time of his appointment was the President of Trinity College which was located near High Point, NC. (Trinity College moved to Durham in 1892. In 1924, tobacco and electric power industrialist James B. Duke established The Duke Endowment, at which time the institution changed its name to Duke University in honor of his deceased father, Washington Duke.)
     One hundred nineteen prisoners of war were the first to occupy the Salisbury Prison on December 9, 1861.  There were 46 who were captured at Bull Run along with 73 sailors.
1862


By May of the next year there were 1,400 men held at the Prison. Men occupied their time by the usual means of whittling, bartering, and writing, but here they also played baseball games in the spacious compound area.  One prisoner wrote that the place was “more endurable than any other part of Rebeldom.” 


At this time, the prison was not such a bad place to be. Prisons made it know that being there was like being on a college campus. Water and shade from large oak trees were plentiful even into early 1864.

1863


For much of the war, prison numbers were not a problem.  There was a prisoner exchange program in place between the two sides, and often captured soldiers were immediately paroled with a written promise that they would not take up arms again until the exchange was made official.  But in the summer of 1863 the exchange system began to break down and the prisons started inching toward the overflow mark.


There were two primary reasons for the decline in exchange.  By July 1863 the fortunes of war were starting to turn heavily in favor of the North.  Given that shift, Northern officials began to recognize that further exchanges would only enable the Confederate government to drag the war out longer.  This became especially obvious after the siege of Vicksburg which netted 29,000 captured Confederate troops.   


The second reason had to do with Union recruitment of black troops following the announcement of the Emancipation Proclamation.  The Confederate government refused to accept the legitimacy of former slaves being used as troops, and threatened to return any captured black troops to slavery.  They also threatened to execute white officers of black troops for promoting "insurrection", though this threat was never officially carried out after the Lincoln administration threatened to retaliate against captured Confederate officers. The upshot of all this was that the exchange system fell apart.  Very few exchanges were carried out between the Fall of 1863 and the Spring of 1865.  Prisons in both North and South quickly became over-crowded.  Inadequate housing (especially during the winter months), poor diet (especially in the South once food shortages began developing), poor hygiene and an inadequate understanding of germs, and their role in spreading disease, all combined to convert the prisons into death traps.  Disease was the main killer of Union and Confederate troops even outside of the prisons.  Within the prisons sickness and epidemics were rampant.

1864

By fall of 1864, 8,000 to 10,000 were crowded inside the prison walls. Between June 1862 and October 1864, the 2,000 citizens of the fourth largest town in North Carolina were outnumbered by the prisoners, which caused them some concern about their own safety.  They were, however, not insensitive to the plight of the men in the Prison and were often seen taking food and clothing for their use.  In November 1864 citizens requested CSA Secretary of War Seddon to remove at least half of those held at the Prison due to the shortage of space, food, and water.  North Carolina Governor Zebulon B. Vance and the State of North Carolina after several attempts successfully got some clothing for the prisoners from the Union Government. 
     One citizen’s humanitarianism was recorded by a number of soldiers keeping diaries while at the Prison.  Mrs. Sarah Johnston, who lived just outside the main gates of the Prison, performed many acts of kindness.  With the permission of the Prison Commandant and the help of Dr. Hall, she opened her doors to men of both armies who needed additional convalescent care.  One young Union soldier, Hugh Berry, who died while in her care, was buried in her garden because she, as a mother, did not want to see him buried in an unmarked grave. Mrs. Johnston’s loyalty was never questioned since her own son served in the Confederate States Navy.  Today Hugh Berry’s grave can be found in the Historic Salisbury National Cemetery where he was re-interred.  His tombstone stands on the northwest side of the trenches.

There were nine commandants during the Prison’s existence.  Perhaps the most noted was Major John Henry Gee of Florida.  In August 1864 Major Gee was appointed to the post as commandant. Major Gee was charged with war crimes and murdering prisoners.   He faced a military trial in 1866. However, Gee was eventually acquitted of his crimes. Gee was the only commandant brought to trial other than Wirz of Andersonville (who was found guilty and hanged).  The entire transcript of Gee’s trial can be read in Annette G. Ford’s book, The Captive. He was found not guilty because he was given a job that was impossible to perform.


Guard duty at the Prison was not popular. In 1861 the pay for a volunteer was $10 a month with a bounty of $11.  By June 1862 the bounty had increased to $100 and guards were taken as young as 16.  In July, 1863 guard duty at the Prison was organized into a service known as the Home Guard with men between the ages of 18-50.  The Senior Reserves took over the guarding of the Prison by the summer of 1864 and they were composed of men above 45 years old.  These guards who came from various regiments including Gibbs Prison Guards, Howard’s Guards, Captain Henry Allen’s Company and Freeman’s Battalion, oversaw approximately 15,000 prisoners from December 9, 1862 to February 22, 1865.

By October, 1864, the population of Northern war inmates had increased to about 10,000. The prison was originally intended to hold only 2,500 soldiers, but with the influx of captured soldiers after the Battle of Atlanta, the prison was severely overcrowded. From October 1864 until February 1865, prisoners experienced unsanitary living quarters and many were fed only 1,600 calories a day (2,000 calories were regarded as the bare minimum for prisoners who lived in this poor prison environment). Many Union soldiers died. The poor sanitation and overcrowding of the prison led to a death rate of over 25%, with 4,000 prisoners dying during the prison’s operation. Eventually, all the buildings were taken over for hospital use, and the men were forced to seek shelter that cold, wet winter under the buildings, in overcrowded tents, and in burrows dug into the hard red soil. 

Escape or Death 

As conditions collapsed in the fall of 1864 food was becoming increasingly scarce in North Carolina, where several food riots had already broken out in several towns.  The spring that was the main water source for the camp was upstream from the camp latrine and prisoners began dying by the score daily.  The local citizenry were appalled by the conditions, but there was little they, or for that fact, anybody could do about it given the crowding and the general breakdown of infrastructure in the South. Prison officials had to resort to the use of burial trenches to dispose of the dead. There is a high degree of uncertainty about the number of Union prisoners buried in the trenches in Salisbury, but the official number was around 5,000.  Some accounts claim the actual number is twice that high. 


Burials before the overcrowding had been in coffins and in separate graves.  Records exist that indicate military burial services were even given.  However, due to the large number of men dying daily after October, 1864, a mass burial system was initiated.  The bodies were collected daily and taken to the “dead house” to be counted and loaded onto a one-horse wagon.  At 2:00 PM each day this wagon of the dead would be taken about ¼ mile to an abandoned cornfield where the men were buried. Eighteen trenches of approximately 240 feet each were eventually needed. The death rate that had been only 2% before October, 
1864, now skyrocketed to an estimated  
25 - 28%.
[image: image98.wmf]11,700 unknown Union soldiers are thought to be buried in 18 trenches, each 240 feet long, dug in an unused corn field outside the Confederate Prison stockades.   Government records indicate about half that many.  Salisbury National Cemetery encompasses this mass grave site, which is now a grassy expanse marked by a head and foot stone for each trench.

Due to the prison's condition, Union soldiers saw escape as the only means to survive. One of the successful ones occurred in January 1865, when almost 100 prisoners tunneled out of the war-time prison. During the prison's operation, approximately 300 Union POWs successfully escaped to the north, but many others were unsuccessful. On November 25, 1864, a large group of prisoners, for instance, tried to escape. Robert Livingstone, alias Rupert Vincent and son of Dr. David Livingstone, lost his life in an ill-planned mass escape. They had attempted to storm the front gate, but were stopped by fire from the cannons used to guard the camp.  Nearly 250 of the prisoners were killed outright or mortally wounded, as well as a few of the guards.  

 Tunneling worked for some, but as many as 2,000 defected to the Confederacy to escape prison life.  Two civilian prisoners who did escape were correspondents for the New York “Tribune”: A.D. Richardson and Junius H. Browne.  After their return to New York they wrote many newspaper columns about their stay in the Salisbury Prison, and their articles helped reverse the no exchange policy.

1865

In February 1865 a new exchange program was finally approved.  Men at the Salisbury Prison were divided into two groups in order to be liberated.  The largest group consisted of 3,729 of the more able-bodied prisoners, who were marched to Greensboro, NC and then taken by train to Wilmington, NC to be received by Confederate Major General Robert F. Hoke.


The second group, containing 1,420 of the sickest prisoners was sent to Richmond, VA.  The Prison then became a supply depot, but it held no prisoners when on April 12, 1865 (3 days after Lee surrendered the Army of Northern Virginia at Appomattox) Union General George Stoneman arrived in Salisbury to free the Federals. The Prison was burned, the only one recorded as having been destroyed in this manner.  The bricks from the buildings were later sold and are said to have been used in constructing some of the buildings on South Main Street in downtown Salisbury.  A small house reportedly used by the Guards outside the main entrance still stands on Bank Street, and a Confederate Government flag that once flew over the gates is now housed at the North Carolina Museum of History in Raleigh.  The trenches, headstones, and monuments at the Historic National Cemetery are additional  reminders that Salisbury was once the home of a Confederate Military Prison. 

Stoneman’s Raid


In April of 1864 Salisbury arsenal provided 10,000 shells and 4,000 horseshoes to Atlanta.  1,000 muskets were on order.  The more Salisbury provided the war effort the more the Union saw it well worth a raid into the area.


In April of the following year, General Stoneman was ordered to lead a raid across western North Carolina, and one of his goals was to free Union prisoners at Salisbury. However, several weeks before General Stoneman’s raid of Salisbury, all of the Union prisoners had been transferred to another camp. Gen Stoneman, upon arriving, ordered the buildings burnt.  Today the only structure that remains of the prison is the former guardhouse.  The rest was burned by Stoneman's troopers.  But the burial trenches and other gravesites of the prisoners have now been incorporated into a United States National Cemetery.
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General George Stoneman burned the prison buildings April 12-13, 1865

National Cemetery



On a knoll in the beautifully maintained Historic Salisbury National Cemetery lies an area marked by the absence of individual tombstones.  Under the grassy mantle and stately trees are the remains of some of the men who died at the Salisbury Confederate Prison. Eighteen trenches are marked with headstones and foot stones but there exists no record of the exact location where each soldier was placed.  In a publication of the U.S. Government in 1868 it is reported that there were about 5,000 Union soldiers buried in the area that became the National Cemetery.  In another Government Report published in 1871 the number of dead was estimated at 11,700.  However, Louis A. Brown, author of The Salisbury Confederate Prison, stated after years of research, there could be no more than 5,000 who died at the Salisbury Confederate Prison.
     Surrounding these trenches are the graves of Union soldiers who were moved to the Cemetery after the war ended.  These include fifty-seven who died at a nearby camp for “galvanized” Yankees and ninety-eight who died of communicable diseases and who were buried in a church cemetery.  In 1866 a resolution of Congress ordered more Union dead to be moved from Lexington, Charlotte, Morganton, and other North Carolina locations and re-interred in Salisbury.

The United States Government assumed responsibility for the Cemetery in 1868 and the Salisbury National Cemetery was established in 1870 as a memorial to those who died at the Salisbury Confederate Prison.  The wooden fence that Union General George Stoneman ordered built around the trenches in 1865 was later replaced by a stone wall that surrounds the entire original National Cemetery property of 5.97 acres.  By 1876 headstones were erected to identify the graves of the known soldiers and to mark the mass graves of the men from Connecticut, Delaware, District of Columbia, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Vermont, Virginia, West Virginia, and Wisconsin. The United States Government erected a monument to the Union dead in 1873, Maine to their dead in 1908, and Pennsylvania to their dead in 1909.  In 1996 the North Carolina Division of the United Daughters of the Confederacy erected a bronze tablet on a granite base to help visitors see the location of the Prison in relation to the burial sites.
	Those who were held at Salisbury POW Camp

	Besse, Cincinnatus, Ferrier F

	Burns, Ebenezer, Pvt G

	Campbell, Joseph W, Pvt D/I 

	Carr, Michael, Pvt B

	Clough, Hannibal, Sgt B

	Cookson, Wm. O., Sgt G

	Dalton, George W., Pvt G

	Dement, John, Pvt G

	Frazer, John A., Pvt D/C

	Held, Charles, Pvt D

	Irwin, Thomas, Pvt C/D/K

	Pollock, James, Pvt G 

	Reeve, James E., 1st Sgt G

	Roxter George C., Pvt A   

	Seib. Jacob, Pvt F

	Shawhan, David, Sgt C/D

	Standiford Aquila. Teamster D/I

	Sweet, Augustus L, 2nd QMS H

	Weaver. Allen D, Pvt D/C

	The above were captured at Nashville on 3/8/1862.  They were paroled in May, 1862, arrived in NYC on 6/9/1862 onboard the steamer Guide.

	Greenleaf, Cilley, Capt G - captured at Lovejoy Station 9/20/1864. Held first at SC then moved to Oglethorpe, GA.

	Hiram Frances Sloop, C - Captured at the Battle of Chickamauga, held first at Richmond 9/29/1863, followed by Danville, Florence, and died while enroute to Salisbury. He is theorized to be buried in a grave marked "Unknown" at Salisbury National Cemetery.
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Batter Up!
Baseball of the Civil War
- Bill Krebs

We tend to think of baseball as having its origin around the turn of the twentieth century.  To a point, you’re right.  Our version of the game does date to then.  But did you know that they played it before the Civil War?  Of course there were some changes.

I’m familiar with the old version as when I was doing civilian Civil War reenacting; I both played and taught Civil War baseball.


First off, there were two sets of rules.  One was called the Brooklyn Rules where a man could only be tagged out by hitting him with the ball.  But don’t be concerned about hitting someone with a baseball.  They were made by taking an old sock, wrapping it with string and covering it with rawhide.  It’s like being hit with a roll of toilet paper.  The ball does not travel very far, either.


The second set of rules is one we primarily use today.  It’s the New York Rules.  That’s where you have to throw the ball at the base or touch the runner.


Unlike today’s game where it ends after 9 innings, the game lasted all day until it got too dark to see.  It was not unusual to see scores in the hundreds. So what were the rules?  Here’s a handout we use to explain the game.

THE EARLY YEARS OF BASEBALL

AN INTRODUCTION
The “great American pastime” has captured our imagination for over a hundred and forty years.  Baseball as we know it today evolved from the English game of Rounders.  In Rounders, the balls were soft and were thrown at the runners to put them out.
By the middle of the nineteenth century, baseball was a gentleman’s game, popular with clubs in the Northeast, especially in New York.  Rules were not yet standardized, however, causing considerable confusion between the clubs.  In 1845, Alexander J. Cartwright established a set of rules that became the foundation of baseball’s rules today.  The first reported game under these rules took place on October 21, 1845 in Hoboken, New Jersey, between clubs from New York City and Brooklyn.

Interest grew over the next decade, and by 1858 twenty-five clubs from the North formed a National Association of Baseball Players.  By the outbreak of the Civil War in 1861, that number had grown to sixty.  The war helped spread the popularity of the game across the country.  The soldiers, as time permitted, enjoyed baseball contests among themselves and took the game home with them after the war.
In 1869 the Cincinnati Red Stockings became the first salaried professional team.  The National Association of Baseball Players became the first professional league in 1871.  The league unfortunately had many problems, and by 1876 was replaced by a new, more powerful league – the National League, which had it organizational meetings in Louisville, Kentucky.  The rules of the game changed gradually during the last decades of the nineteenth century; by the time the American League was formed in 1991, most of the elements of the modern game were in place.
Vocabulary
Players and spectators are encouraged to use the following terms, derived from the early years of baseball:
19th Century Term - 21st Century Term
Aces


Runs (scores)

Behind

Catcher

Club Nine

Team

Cranks

Fans

Dead


Out

Dew Drop

Slow Pitch

Foul Tick

Foul Ball

Hurler


Pitcher

Leg It


Run to the Base

Match


Game

Muff


Drop the ball, Error

Striker


Batter

Tally


Score

Thrower

Pitcher

Wide


Ball (poor pitch)

Hands


Players

RULES FOR THE PLAY OF 19TH CENTURY BASEBALL
These rules are designed to facilitate play of baseball as done in the 1850s and 1860s.  The basic object and course of play are assumed to be familiar to the reader.  These rules in general specify variations from modern practice with the intent of allowing re-creation of the game as played in its formative years.  It will be helpful to refer to the vocabulary listings.

1. The thrower must attempt to throw the ball where the striker wishes it thrown.  Upon stepping to Home Base, the striker will indicate with the bat where he wishes the ball thrown to him.

2. The thrower must throw the ball underhanded beginning his throw with his legs crossed the ball in one hand before him and his other hand behind his back.  He may take one step forward while throwing.

3. The umpire will mark a line on the ground 45 feet from Home base toward Second Base, behind which the thrower must remain while throwing the ball toward the striker.

4. The thrower must complete a pitch once begun; he may not balk.  Should he do so, all runners on bases may advance one base.

5. The striker must keep the bat in contact with his shoulder until the thrower releases the ball.

6. The striker is obligated to hit well-thrown balls.  The umpire normally will not call “balls” or “strikes”, and no player “walks”.  The umpire may encourage the striker to attempt to hit well-thrown balls.  The umpire may call strikes or even declare a striker dead if the umpire believes the striker is consistently failing to swing at well-thrown balls.

7. A striker who swings and misses at three consecutive pitches is dead.  The umpire may penalize a striker for repeatedly and intentionally allowing a well-thrown ball to pass to avoid a strikeout. (In a friendly game, if the striker has two strikes, he may allow the next ball to pass without swinging and the strikes against him will be removed.)
8. Foul ticks do not count as strikes.  Foul ricks caught in flight or on their first bounce cause the striker to be dead.

9. Batted balls are determined to be fair by the umpire according to where they first hit the ground.  The umpire must declare balls fair or foul at his earliest opportunity in a loud, clear voice.

10. If the last of three balls struck at is missed by the striker and not caught by the behind either flying or on the first bounce, it is a fail ball and the striker must run for the first base.

11. Strikers may not bunt.

12. Runners may not slide into bases.

13. Basemen must stand in contact with their bases until the ball is hit by the striker’s bat or is caught by the behind.

14. Fielders must stand in the middle of their areas until the ball is hit by the striker’s bat or is caught by the behind.

15. Runners may not lead off.

16. Stealing bases is prohibited

17. Fly balls caught in flight or on the first bounce cause the striker to be dead.

18. If a ball is caught in flight or on the first bounce, other runners on bases may not advance and must return to the base from which they began play.

19. In force-out situations, runners need not be tagged with the ball.  The baseman need only receive the ball with his foot in contact with the base before the arrival of the runner.  In other situations, however, runners may be tagged dead.

20. Runners may not go beyond three feet from a straight line between the bases.

21. Players may not intentionally prevent others from catching or fielding balls or reaching bases.

22. All handling of the ball should be done with bare hands.  Gloves may not be worn.  If a ball is caught in a hat or with another item of clothing or is received from a spectator, it must be returned to the thrower before being used further in play.

23. The behind may play at any point up to 45 feet beyond Home Base.

24. The shortstop may play anywhere on the field

25. The loss of a ball in play in vegetation, over a fence, onto a building, or because of other obstacles does not retard play.

26. The four bases are at the corners of a square 30 yards apart.  They must be made in a manner so that they are visible to the umpire.

27. Balls must be reproductions of period baseballs or must approximate the weight, size, and other characteristics of period baseball.  The use of modern baseballs is prohibited.

28. Bats must be made of wood.  They may be of any length but may not exceed a maximum diameter of 2 ½ inches.  Bats may be straight or may be shaped according to documented 19th century practice.

29. Both team captains must agree to changes in personnel once the game begins.

30. Use of foul language, consumption of alcoholic beverages, and gambling are prohibited.

31. The umpire is responsible for enforcement of all rules and settling all disputes.  He may levy fines, declare players dead, cause games to be forfeited, or enforce other penalties appropriate to the offense.  Only team captains may address the umpire in discussing disputes. 
In Their Own Words
This excerpt was taken from the Memoirs of William Tecumseh Sherman, Penguin Books; NY, NY, pages 329-331. (Cpl. Pike was from Co. A, 4th OVC)
Chapter XIV Chattanooga and Knoxville - July to December, 1863

I (Gen. Sherman) was still busy in pushing forward the repairs to the railroad-bridge at Bear Creek, and in patching up the many breaks between it and Tuscumbia, when on the 27th of October, as I sat on the porch of a house" I was approached by a dirty, black-haired individual with mixed dress and strange demeanor, who inquired for me, and, on being assured that I was in fact the man, he handed me a letter from General Blair at Tuscumbia, and another short one, which was a telegraph-message from general Grant at Chattanooga, addressed to me through General George Crook, commanding at Huntsville, Alabama, to this effect:

Drop all work on the Memphis & Charleston Railroad, cross the Tennessee, and hurry

eastward with all possible dispatch toward Bridgeport, till you meet further orders from me.
U S. Grant


The bearer of this message was Corporal Pike, who described to me, in his particular way, that General Crook had sent him in a canoe; that he had pulled down the Tennessee River, over Muscle Shoals, was fired at all the way by guerrillas, but on reaching Tuscumbia he had providentially found it in possession of our troops. He had reported to General Blair, who had sent him on to me at Iuka. This Pike proved to be a singular character; his manner attracted my notice at once, and I got him a horse, and had him travel with us eastward to about Elkton, whence I sent him back to General Crook at Huntsville; but told him, if I could ever do him a personal service, he might apply to me.


The next spring when I was in Chattanooga, preparing for the Atlanta campaign, Corporal Pike made his appearance and asked for a fulfillment of my promise. I inquired what he wanted, and he said he wanted to do something bold, something that would make him a hero. I explained to him, that we were getting ready to go for Joe Johnston at Dalton, that I expected to be in the neighborhood of Atlanta about the 4thof July, and wanted the bridge across the Savannah River at Augusta, Georgia, to be burnt about that time, to produce alarm and confusion behind the rebel army. I explained to Pike that the chances were three to one that he would be caught and hanged; but the greater the danger the greater seemed to be his desire to attempt it. I told him to select a companion, to disguise himself as an East Tennessee refugee, work his way over the mountains into North Carolina, and at the time appointed to float down the Savannah River and burn the bridge. In a few days he had made his preparations and took his departure. The bridge was not burnt, and I supposed that Pike had been caught and hanged.


When we reached Columbia, South Carolina, in February, 1865, just as we were leaving the town, in passing near the asylum, I heard my name called, and saw a very dirty fellow followed by a file of men running toward me, and as they got near I recognized Pike. He called to me to identify him as one of my men: he was then a prisoner under guard, and I instructed the guard to bring him that night to my camp some fifteen miles up the road, which was done. Pike gave me a graphic narrative of his adventures, which would have filled a volume; told me how he had made two attempts to burn the bridge, and failed; and said that at the time of our entering Columbia he was a prisoner in the hands of the rebels, under trial for his life, but in the confusion of their retreat he made his escape and got into our lines, where he was again made a prisoner by our troops because of his looks. Pike got some clothes, cleaned up, and I used him afterward to communicate with Wilmington, North Carolina. Some time after the war, he was appointed a lieutenant of the Regular Cavalry, and was killed in Oregon, by the accidental discharge of a pistol. Just before his death he wrote me, saying he was tired of the monotony of garrison-life, and wanted to turn Indian, join the Cheyennes on the Plains, who were giving us great trouble, and, after he had gained their confidence, he would betray them into our hands. Of course I wrote him that he must try and settle down and become a gentleman as well as an officer, apply himself to his duties, and forget the wild desires of his nature, which were well enough in time of war, but not suited to his new condition as an officer; but, poor fellow! He was killed by an accident, which probably saved him from a slower but harder fate. 


Can you guess what this Civil War article is?  Answer on page 42. 
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The History of the U S Cavalry
 - Bill Krebs

1895 the US went to war with Spain over the island of Cuba. Five cavalry regiments were committed to the campaign for Santiago, and three -- the 1st, 9th, and 10th-- participated in the decisive assault on San Juan Hill. The 10th was the Buffalo Soldier regiment.  In addition, the US became involved in a significant guerrilla war in the Philippines the following year. From 1899 to 1901, nine regular cavalry regiments and two regiments of reserves were dispatched to fight the guerrillas. 



The 4th U S Cavalry (Eli Long’s old unit), comprising of troops C, E, G, I,K and L were sent to the Philippines  during the Spanish American War. Arriving too late to take part in the actions of that war, the unit soon found itself involved in the Philippine-American War. Troops D and H remained at Fort Yellowstone, Wyoming, with the Headquarters staff and Troops B and M remaining stationed at the Presidio, in San Francisco, California. 


Those of the regiment who were sent to the Philippines became part of the Fourth Philippine Expedition, which was under the command of General E. S. Otis. They were accompanied by two batteries of the 6th U.S. Artillery, five companies of the 14th U.S. Infantry and several detachments of recruits. All told, the expedition consisted of 42 officers and 1,640 men. The expedition shipped out on the transports Peru and City of Pueblo. 


The expedition left San Francisco on July 15 1898, and arrived in the Philippines on August 21, 1898. Luckily, the fighting against the Spanish had effectively ended about a week before their arrival. On August 13, Manila had fallen, while simultaneously halfway around the world, an armistice with Spain was reached. News of the armistice would not reach the Philippines until after the fall of Manila, which had already been signed. From the fall of Manila until the end of the war, an uneasy peace between the Spanish, Americans and Philippine forces remained in effect, and the 4th saw no fighting. 


The Spanish American War ended with the signing of the Peace Protocols on December 10, 1898. In February, 1899, the Philippine-American War broke out, and the Fourth U.S. Cavalry did take an active part in that war. 

The Beginning


On February 15, 1898, at 9:45 P. M. the USS Maine exploded, killing 268 on board.  With no proof Randolph Hearst and other purveyors of the "Yellow Press" blamed the Spanish for the incident. "Remember the Maine" became a battle cry and a call to arms for Americans.
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USS Maine
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U.S. Navy diving crew at work on the ship's wreck, in 1898, seen from aft looking forward.

When the war broke out, the 10th US Cavalry was recalled from its outlying posts and assignments.  Within a matter of days the 10th Cavalry Regiment was assembled at Fort Assinniboine in Montana.   Moving by rail, the regiment's first stop was in Wisconsin where they received flags and flowers from well wishers. The reception was much cooler as they approached the South where Jim Crow laws were strictly enforced.   The line of racist demarcation was easily noticeable when the troops crossed the Kentucky state border.  It was here that the soldiers took note that cheering crowds were separated by race and that whites stayed on one side of the tracks while blacks stayed on the other.


While the army was preparing its invasion force the 10th Cavalry regiment was expanded. The cavalry regiments sent to Cuba consisted of two squadrons of approximately 400 men.  As the regiment expanded, logistical difficulties were experienced.  New recruits to the unit took time to equip and then it was weeks before these new soldiers had all of their personal and weapons gear.  The regular army was able to issue the more modern Krag-Joergenson rifles to all of its regulars from the stockpiles of 35,000 rifles. 
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The 10th US Cavalry in Cuba 1898

The men of the Tenth Cavalry regiment waited in Lakeland Florida prior to their departure for Cuba.  In preparation for war, drilling started at 5:00 AM and finally ended almost 12 hours later at 6:45 PM.   During the training period the average trooper accumulated a kit consisting of: a blanket, shelter half, poncho, extra clothes, food and utensils, cartridge belt and 125 rounds, canteen, weapon and haversack.  His uniform consisted of flannel shirts, canvas over blouse, high leather boots with gaiters and a campaign hat.   During what little free time the troopers had were filled with problems dealing with the local citizenry.  The troopers did not readily adjust to the extreme segregation of the South.  This tension came to a head when a barber in Lakeland threatened troopers with pistols, an encounter that ended with the shooting death of the barber. 


Transport was so poorly organized that food supplies were reduced to make room for 20 pieces of artillery.  Trains operated without clear cargo manifests making it impossible to determine which supplies were on which trains. All of which had to wait for the single line of track that went to the port at Tampa.  It was a matter of luck that the troopers of the Tenth Cavalry rode from Lakeland to the pier at Tampa in fancy railroad coaches with ice water.  However, later in the day they were unable to eat in any of the Jim Crow restaurants.  Food was eventually purchased from local peddlers.    As the Tenth Cavalry regiment embarked, approximately a third of the troopers had to remain behind to tend to the horses and equipment.  Most of the horses would stay behind because of insufficient room on the transports.   Personnel were placed on the transport Leona; artillery, baggage and rations were on the transport Comal.  On June 14, 1898 the advance guard sailed for Cuba in a convoy of 36 transports, the gunboat Helena, and several others.  The convoy was met off the Dry Tortugas, by additional escort vessels on June the 15th at 11:45 PM, and thence continued on toward Cuba.

Amphibious Assault


Those troopers of the 10th Cavalry who stayed in Florida did not necessarily stay out of combat.  A detachment composed of 50 members of A, H, and M companies were sent to resupply insurgents in Cuba.  The mission involved landing Americans, as well as 375 Cuban soldiers, 65 mules with packs, rations, clothing, and ammunition.  Similar missions would be executed throughout the war.  On June the 21st a small convoy sailed with the transports Florida, Fanita and the gunboat Peoria, under the command of Lt. Johnson.  On June 29th, a landing at Cienfuegos was attempted but repulsed by the Spanish.  The next day the convoy moved down the coast to Tayabacoa.  The commander of the Cuban/American forces, a Cuban named General Nunez, sent 300 Cubans and 28 Americans ashore, under cover fire from the Peoria.  The Spanish responded quickly and heavily engaged this force.  The Cuban/American force was cut off by the Spanish who were only kept at bay by the Peoria's guns.  Neither side was willing to let go of what it had.  The Spanish kept the original force pinned down and repulsed four rescue attempts by the Cubans from the ships. 


 The situation of the landing party looked hopeless.  There was however, one last hope.  Lt. Ahern, Sergeant Thompkins, Corporal Wanton and Troopers Bell and Lee of the 10th Cavalry regiment volunteered to attempt a rescue.  Prior to this action, none of these soldiers were considered exceptional.  Lt. Ahern decided to move under the cover of darkness.  His long boat was slowly lowered into the water and the oars were carefully pulled through the water so as to reduce noise.  "The party of five regulars", made it to shore safely and managed to locate the survivors of the landing party.  It was shortly thereafter that the Spanish detected the rescue attempt and tried to stop it.  The rescue party worked quickly and was finally able to retrieve all the survivors and wounded amidst a hail of Spanish fire. 

 
Upon return to the ship, Corporal Wanton volunteered to go back and retrieve the bodies of their dead comrades but this was deemed too risky an operation and was denied.  Eventually a successful landing was made at Tunas.  For their conspicuous gallantry at Tayabacoa, Sgt. Thompkins, Cpl. Wanton, and Troopers Bell and Lee all received their nation's highest distinction: the Medal of Honor. 


On June 23rd 1898, V Corps, which was the 10th Cavalry's higher command, established its headquarters at Siboney.   The corps cavalry brigade was commanded by General "Fightin' Joe" Wheeler.  Wheeler, a former Confederate cavalry officer moved his brigade towards the ridge at Las Guasimas in order to conduct a reconnaissance.  Through Cuban intelligence, Wheeler found that the ridge was defended by both artillery and infantry.  The 10th Cavalry, First Squadron, along with the First Squadron, First Cavalry Regiment, followed a northern route to the ridge, while the First Volunteer cavalry followed a southern route. 

The Battle of Las Guasimas (San Juan Hill)


For the troopers of the 10th Cavalry, a silent reveille was held at 3:00AM on June 24th.   They then scarfed down a quick breakfast of hard tack, bacon, and coffee and were on the march at 6:00 AM.   Meanwhile, Brigadier General Rubin with 1,500 men was to fight a delaying action. The path taken by Wheeler's units was through dense jungle, and all three units emerged from the tree line at about the same time facing the main blockhouse at Las Guasimas.  General Rubin had already placed scouts forward of his position and these scouts had allowed U.S. forces to pass them, signaling that the enemy was approaching by using bird calls.  At 7:30 AM contact with the enemy was made.   In the battle of Las Guasimas, Troop A, commanded by Captain Beck, was deployed left of the 1st Cavalry Regiment and was parallel to the hill.  While moving forward the troop, under enemy fire linked up with Teddy Roosevelt’s Rough Riders.  Sergeant Buck, of the 10th Cavalry, was later to be commended for pushing his troops forward, calmly calling them by name in order to motivate them. 


Company B, commanded by Captain Willard, started the advance to Las Guasimas which involved crawling through the jungle to reach the objective.  At 7:45 AM the order to “lock and load” weapons was given.  B Troop's Hotchkiss gun drew a lot of fire because of its smoke, which gave away its position.  While under fire, the troop had to search for a way around a wire fence and through thick brush.  The troop lost seven men but eventually came into line with the 1st Cavalry Regiment and the Rough Riders.  A charge was made and the Spanish were overrun.  The battle was over at by 11:00 AM.

The End


It is at this point on the 3rd of July that the Spanish fleet attempted to break out of Santiago harbor and was destroyed by the American fleet in a running gun battle called the Battle of Santiago. Here the siege of Santiago began.  The siege itself was characterized by a series of deadly circumstances.  Foremost was the fact that snipers were always on the prowl and no man could afford to move about in the open lest he become a casualty.  This forced the troopers to stay in trenches all day.  The trench system was unsanitary to say the least.  Filled knee deep in mud and water from the almost daily rain showers, these areas became a breeding ground for mosquitoes.  It was in such conditions that malaria, dysentery, and yellow fever began spreading through the ranks.  Adding to the trooper's problems was the fact that much of the army's food was spoiling in the tropical sun, this was especially true of the canned beef, an army staple.  At night the men in the trenches only slept for short periods before awakening shivering.  The only reprieve the soldiers had was the almost daily truces which continued until the Spanish agreed to lay down their arms on the 17th of July. 


By the end of hostilities almost 80% of the troops had some form of fever.  This precipitated the evacuation of some 20,000 troops to Camp Wikoff on Long Island, where they were placed under quarantine. 
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Who Really Took San Juan Hill?
- Bill Krebs

It’s written in the history books that it was Theodore “Teddy” Roosevelt who captured San Juan Hill.  They give the impression that they were the only ones involved in that charge and that they single-handedly took the hill. But such is not the case, nor were they the first to reach the summit.


Each individual troop that participated in the battle for San Juan Hill had its own perspective of the events. But some elements of the battle were common to all units in the Tenth Cavalry Regiment.  The regiment as a whole was deployed near the road leading to Santiago. Each unit had to make its way through wire and thickets on the outer perimeter of the Spanish defenses.  Most of the regiment used the tall grass in the area to conceal movement.   On the morning of 1, July, 1898 at 8:30 AM, the infantry elements of the cavalry moved toward Santiago, across the San Juan River.  As units moved into position, an army observation balloon was moved down the road toward Santiago.  This was towards the middle of the Tenth Cavalry Regiment's position in the line.  This balloon drew the fire of many Spaniards and to say the least, all of this "unwanted attention" was unnerving to men on the ground.  The balloon proved of little tactical use as it was soon shot down. 


Within an hour and a half all of the attacking infantry units were in position for the assault.   As the cavalry units took positions on the far right of the line, Tenth Cavalry Regimental Sergeant Major attended to the details between the front line and the position of his commanding officer Lt. Colonel Baldwin in the rear.  Meanwhile Spanish fire was raining down on the American positions along the entire line.  Sgt. Major Baker was taking cover during one of the volleys of artillery fire when he discovered one of his men, Trooper Marshall of C Troop, struggling in the San Juan River.  With total disregard of the enemy fire and the pleas of his fellow soldiers, Baker ran forward and dragged the trooper to safety.  Baker received two wounds on the left arm and side during this action.  The wounded sergeant managed to get to the regimental surgeon and insisted that the doctor attend to Trooper Marshall first.  For his selfless concern for his trooper in the face of enemy fire Baker became the fifth member of the regiment to receive the Medal of Honor.  Sgt Major Baker would later take a commission in the 49th Volunteer Infantry and was one of the few volunteer officers to retain his commission after the war.  He eventually retired from the army as a Captain. 


The Tenth Cavalry Regiment actively engaged the enemy at a range of 600 yards with its detachment of Hotchkiss guns which were placed 100 yards past the San Juan River, aimed against the blockhouse and entrenchments. The detachment was forced to move due to a counter battery fire.  They then took up a position in the vicinity of the First Cavalry's artillery and machine guns.  The stories of the individual troops can be seen in the after action reports that were filed by the respective commanding officers.  In A Troop, under Captain Beck, the troop had received the order into the line at the left of the First Cavalry Regiment.  The troop became dispersed in the chaparral.  A Troop then advanced in heavy fire, and became part of the general movement toward the crest in spite of fire from 150 Spaniards.  With assistance from the Hotchkiss guns and a detachment of the 24th Infantry Regiment the troop silenced the Spaniards. 


Meanwhile, B Troop, under the command of Captain Watson, was more focused on the frontal assault.  Having moved forward in two rushes the troop broke into double time.  By the time the commanding officer reached the top of the hill only seven troopers had kept up with him.  Later the rest of the troop reached the crest and took its place in the line. Lt. Anderson's C Troop bivouacked on June 30, at 4:30 PM and left the next morning at 9:20.  At 10:30 the troop received enemy fire and dropped their packs while seeking cover.  Colonel Wood ordered the troop to move toward the blockhouse.  During the advance the troop lost all cohesion and only 18 members of the troop reached the top of San Juan Hill together, having passed two sets of Spanish entrenchments. 


D Troop was somewhat more active than its counter parts in the regiment. On June 30th, under Captain Bigelow the troop was placed on pickets near El Pozo.  Withdrawn, it marched toward the regimental position in the line.  The troop then occupied the extreme left and was halted by two wire fences (it was D Troop who suffered under the infamous observation balloon).  Their presence there checked the retreat of the 71st New York Regiment which was ahead of it in the column.   In an episode that had to appear comical Captain Bigelow, tried with bare hands to remove or push over a fence post that was part of the wire fence system the Spanish were using for defense. The captain tried to no avail, when Corporal Walker came over with his rifle and bayonet attached and slashed through the wire affording the troop an opening thorough which they could advance. They then withdrew from the road and faced toward the enemy fire, without waiting for higher orders.  The troop charged along with the other forces. Lt. Jules Ord of the 6th Infantry Regiment was advancing and reached the top of the hill first when he was shot through the chin. Corporal Walker of D Troop saw Ord's killer and dispatched him in return, thus avenging the death of the first American to reach the top of the hill.    During the assault on the heights, Captain Bigelow was wounded in action and the leadership of his troop was taken over by Lt. Pershing.  After securing the hill the troop was used by General Sumner as a reserve. 


Troop E commanded by Captain Ayers was marching in a column of files on July 1st.  At 900 yards the column began bearing on the center of San Juan Hill, around a pond, and assaulted the hill at a "quick tripping step".  As the troop approached, the Spanish abandoned their positions, allowing the troopers to fire on the fleeing enemy.  After the hill was secured the troop remained in place during the entire siege of Santiago. 


F Troop, commanded by Captain Jones, was forced to wait in the waist deep water of the San Juan River.  The order "Forward Skirmishers, Guide left March!" was finally and gratefully received.  The troop then took to advancing in rushes.  At a range of 100 yards the Gatling gun detachment opened fire causing some Spaniards to flee their positions.  At this point the troopers let loose a war cry and the charge began.  The troop ended on the heights, forming new skirmishers. 


Lt. Roberts commanding, G Troop, moved toward the Spanish at 9:00 AM, passed by the observation balloon, and halted at the river.  G Troop then moved through the river and became delayed by the wire.  As the troop deployed, Lt. Roberts was wounded.  I Troop movement began at 3:30 PM on June, 30, 1898.  It ended operations in bivouac that night.  The troop remained encamped through the initial artillery fire.  Packs were left under guard and the troop crossed the San Juan River.  They were able to hold cover on the far bank of the river.  After this they became part of the line and joined in the assault on the heights.  They exchanged volleys with the Spanish on the run and overpowered the trenches between the two blockhouses. Although confusion reigned, it has been said that Corporal Smith of this troop were the first Americans on the hill who lived to tell about it. The troop held the extreme western crest of the heights until ordered to join C Troop. 


It was during the general charge, when all units lost cohesion and became one large, unorganized force that they moved to the heights of San Juan.  The 10th Cavalry gained an unusual distinction during this charge.  The Regimental Color Sgt. Berry being part of the melee' was able to see the color bearer of 3rd Cavalry go down.  Sgt. Berry ran forward and retrieved the 3rd Cavalry Regiment's colors, and continued his advance.  Upon reaching the summit he planted the flags and cried" Rally on the flags boys!"  In army history he is the only man to carry two standards through a battle to victory.   Immediately after securing the hill, all persons were put to the task of building trenches and shelters.  During the following days, two counter attacks of note were made by the Spanish, both of which were repulsed.  The 10th Cavalry Regiment had lost seven men and had 69 wounded as a result of the battle. 


 Was it because the 10th was a black regiment and was not accepted by the vast majority of Americans as they saw the black man as inferior?  That feeling persisted even throughout WW II.  It wasn’t until the movies Glory (1989) and Tuskegee Airmen (2001) that America finally recognized the fighting qualities of the blacks.  After all, the other wars we fought, outside of the French and Indian War and the Barbary Pirates, had been fought against Caucasian armies.


Or was it due to the commander of the Rough Riders, Teddy Roosevelt.  Did he have at that time aspirations of the Oval Office and downplay the part the 10th played while up-playing his role? Teddy returned home in August, 1898 to screaming crowds asking him to run for governor of New York which he won in November of that year which propels him in 1900 to become Vice-President of the United States and President on September 14, 1901 when President William McKinley is assassinated.
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This picture shows the US Army victors on Kettle Hill around July 3, 1898 after the battle of "San Juan Hill(s)." Left to right is 3rd US Cavalry, 1st Volunteer Cavalry (Col. Theodore Roosevelt center) and 10th US Cavalry. A similar picture is often shown cropping out all but the 1st Vol. Cav. and TR.

More than likely, it’s a combination of the two.
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Bob Venable’s                                             The Spotlight 
is on: 
The Historic sites of Ulysses Simpson Grant when he was Hiram Ulysses Grant

Vas You Ever In Zinzinnati is a book by Dick Perry published in 1966 by Doubleday.  If you ever find yourself in the Queen City of the West for a Reds or Bengals game, a visit to the city’s world-famous Zoo, the National Underground Railroad Freedom Center, King’s Island Amusement Park, or any of the other attractions and need a change of pace, I have one for you.  Let me take you on a road trip.


Ulysses S. Grant was the overall commander of Union forces in the Chattanooga Campaign of which the 4th OVC was a part, as well as the 18th U.S. President.  But he was named Hiram Ulysses Grant when he was born on April 27, 1822 in the humble little village of Point Pleasant, nestled along the Ohio River in Clermont County, Ohio.  Our road trip takes us there on U.S. Route 52, a scant 25 mile drive along the river southeast of Cincinnati.  There we see the U.S. Grant Historic District, designated by this marker.* [image: image44.jpg]HON
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Grant’s parents, Jesse R. and Hannah Simpson Grant resided in Point Pleasant.  Jesse managed a tannery business owned by Thomas Page.
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Jesse R & Hannah Grant

The Grants lived in the clapboard cabin where Ulysses was born.   It has been restored and is open for tours.
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 Ulysses Simpson Grant Birthplace Cabin
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Some interior views of the Grant Birthplace

There are at least two memorials to General/President Grant in the Historic District – the Grant Memorial Church where the family attended services and the Grant Memorial Bridge which carries U.S. 52 over the Indian Creek where it flows into the Ohio River.  Both are within a block of the cabin.
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Grant Memorial Church
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Grant Memorial Bridge & historical marker

Jesse Grant wanted ownership of a tannery business so he soon moved his family to nearby Georgetown, Brown County, Ohio a year later in 1823.  We follow his path as we drive east on US 52 for 18 miles to Higginsport where we turn north onto Ohio Route 221 for about 10 miles more to Georgetown, population of about 4,500 people.  As we are about to enter downtown on Route 221, West Grant Avenue juts to the left at an oblique angle.  Within a few blocks stands Grant Avenue School Antiques at 307 West Grant, a good place to stop for directions and, who knows, maybe pick up a Grant related piece.  Joanie, the owner, relates that Samuel Hanniford, a renowned Cincinnati architect, designed and built the school in 1895-98.  But it is not where U.S. Grant attended.  She directs us to begin our Grant tour at the Thompson House just up the street at 202 East Grant.  There we will meet a guide to lead us to the Grant family home in Georgetown.  The Thompson House doubles as the gallery of noted Wildlife artist John A. Ruthven who is widely regarded as the modern day Audubon.  If you view his works, you will soon agree with that assessment.  If we are lucky, John may be present working on a painting or sketch.  At the very least, we will see whatever work he is currently engaged in, perched on his easel.  


Our guide walks us to the nearby Grant home at number 219 East Grant.  Jesse built the house in 1823.  Additions were made in 1825 and 1828.  It was restored by the Ruthvens and given to the State of Ohio in 2001.  Free tours are from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m., Monday through Saturday.  As explained on this historical marker, Ulysses lived in this boyhood home until 1839.
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U.S. Grant Boyhood Home, Georgetown, OH

Jesse Grant built his two-story tannery at 300 East Grant Street, directly across the street from his home.   Ulysses helped in the business by cutting and delivering the firewood required in the tanning process.  The building still exists today but is privately owned and closed to the public.


Jesse and Hannah wanted their son to attend school.  Ulysses spent one year, 1827-28, at the Georgetown public school about four blocks away from their home, at 508 Water Street, under the tutelage of Mr. Barney.  While it is restored and is open Wednesday through Sunday for afternoon tours, there is an admission charge.   
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Ulysses Grant’s school, 1827-28 year

From 1828 to 1839, except for two years, Grant attended John D. White’s subscription school for which his parents paid $2.00 for a 13-week period in a two-room brick building.  It is now a private residence.  
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John D. White’s Subscription School

In the 1836-37 school term Grant attended the Richeson & Rand School in Maysville, Kentucky and for 1838-39 he was at the Presbyterian Academy in Ripley, Ohio where famed abolitionist Reverend John Rankin ran the local Underground Railroad from his home high on a bluff overlooking the Ohio River and the Kentucky hills across the water.  It is reputed that Rankin related to Harriet Beecher Stowe the story of a slave who carried her child across the thawing river’s ice.  Stowe included the story in her epic Uncle Tom’s Cabin.  Reverend Rankin was greatly assisted by John Parker, a slave who purchased his freedom and lived and ran his own foundry business on the river’s banks.  Parker made forays across the river and rowed hundreds, if not thousands, of runaway slaves to freedom.  His autobiography, His Promised Land (Edited by Stuart S. Sprague, 1996), relates many harrowing tales of rescue.  A whole day could be spent in seeing the Underground Railroad sites in Ripley alone, but, alas, we need to continue on our tour.

The carefree student life ended for Ulysses at age 18 in 1839 as his father was able to secure an appointment for him to West Point when a neighbor’s son failed at the Academy.  The local Congressman, in haste, erroneously listed Hiram Ulysses’ name as Ulysses Simpson Grant.  Everyone called him Ulysses.  The Congressman thought that was his first name and just inserted his mother’s maiden name as the middle name.  When Ulysses arrived at West Point he was told he could not enroll unless he “adopted” his name as it appeared on the appointment.


We could end our road trip here, but Maysville, Kentucky is only 22 miles, (about 30 minutes of drive time) from Georgetown, including crossing the Simon Kenton Bridge from Aberdeen, Ohio to Maysville.  Why Maysville?  Because there is an old Pioneer Graveyard located downtown at 221 Sutton Street hidden behind the Mason County Public Library.  It features two stone tablets dedicated by the Maysville Younger Woman’s Club in 1992 in “Memory of those buried in Maysville’s first cemetery.”  Below is a picture of the first tablet.  The fourth last name on the burial list is “Grant, Peter” and the last name is “Hewitt, Henry Peter Grant” The names were hard to read because of the sun glare.  Peter Grant was the half-brother of Jesse Grant and thus the half-uncle of Ulysses.  Peter and his wife Permelia had a daughter named Clarice who married James Hewitt.  They in turn had a son, Henry Peter Grant Hewitt who died as an infant.  He was the half-first cousin of Ulysses.  
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Tablet #1 at Pioneer Graveyard, Maysville, KY
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Grave of Peter Grant

Our road trip east of Cincinnati is over.  There is a Grant Memorial Bridge at Portsmouth, Ohio but that would mean re-crossing the Simon Kenton Bridge and proceeding east again on U.S. 52 for 50 more miles (one hour).  Besides, the first Grant Memorial Suspension bridge to South Shore, Kentucky was demolished in 2002 and a new cable-stayed Grant Memorial Bridge was built over the Ohio River.  But I have a solution.  Portsmouth hired noted muralist Robert Dafford of Lafayette, Louisiana to paint 40 murals depicting the city’s history on its floodwall – everything from Roy Rogers to Branch Rickey (Branch Rickey was the President and General Manager of the Brooklyn Dodgers of the National League who hired Jackie Robinson as his second baseman, making Robinson the first black man in major league baseball.  Portsmouth honored Rickey for what he did by naming its minor league ball park after Rickey and they celebrate Branch Rickey Day every year on the date he broke the color barrier, April 15, 1947.) to Jim Thorpe, local industry, education, Native Americans, etc.  Yes, even the first Grant Memorial Bridge at twilight, pictured here.
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Returning to Cincinnati from Maysville, we stay on the Kentucky side of the Ohio River on the Double A Highway (Ashland to Alexandria), an interstate-like road designated as KY Route 9.  It is an easy one hour drive to Newport, Kentucky, then across the Licking River to Covington, Kentucky, the largest city directly across the river from Cincinnati.  Seven blocks from the Ohio River is 530 Greenup Street.  Ulysses’ parents, Jesse and Hannah, moved there in 1859.  Jesse served as Postmaster at Covington from 1866 to 1872.  Ulysses visited several times, before, during and after the Civil War.  He sent his wife, Julia Dent Grant, and their children to live with his parents in 1862 for a short time.  Other visitors included Generals Sherman, Terry, Stoneman, and Rawlins as attested on the historical markers pictured here.
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The home itself is a large brick structure on a leafy street which presents a handsome appearance as shown in this picture.
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Jesse died in 1873 in Covington.  Hannah moved to Jersey City, NJ, but her remains were returned when she died in 1883.  They are buried in Section 29, Lot 46, Graves 8 and 10, in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati.
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Jesse & Hannah Grant family grave marker

A U.S. Grant Cenotaph is also carved on the family monument.  Perhaps surprisingly it refers to him as General, not as President, even though it was engraved after he died.
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General U.S. Grant Cenotaph

This concludes our road trip to visit the historical sites related to General and President Ulysses Simpson Grant, aka Hiram Ulysses Grant, in southwest Ohio and Northern Kentucky.  You are free to return to your other planned activities in Cincinnati.

*End Note:  All pictures in this article were taken by the author.

Sources:

Clyde W. Park, That Grant Boy (C.J. Krehbiel Co., Cincinnati, OH 1957)

Pamphlet, Pioneer Graveyard, Maysville, KY

Pamphlet, Land of Grant, U.S. Homestead Assoc. 937-378-4119

http://www.geni.com/people/Jesse-Grant/6000000001352492518  Jesse & Peter grant timelines

http://presidentusgrant.com/picture-archives/1823-1838-georgetown-ohio/  Schools in Georgetown, Maysville & Ripley

http://www.theportsmouthinfo.com/page/6651/Portsmouth-Bridges  Old Grant Suspension Bridge, Portsmouth, OH

http://www.findagrave.com/cgi-bin/fg.cgi?page=gr&GSln=grant&GSfn=peter&GSbyrel=all&GSdyrel=all&GSst=19&GScnty=1069&GScntry=4&GSob=n&GRid=13833663&df=all&  Peter Grant grave, Pioneer Graveyard, Maysville

http://www.nkyviews.com/kenton/text/grants_in_ky.htm  Jesse Grant living in Covington

http://www.springgrove.org/stats/24813.tif.pdf   Jesse Grant cemetery burial record

http://www.springgrove.org/stats/38528.tif.pdf   Hannah Grant cemetery burial record  
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Lores and Legends
Cindy Freed

John Hunt Morgan: a Dashing Confederate Cavalryman,
or a Pillaging, Thieving, Desperado?

John Hunt Morgan, daring Confederate cavalry general, was seen as the epitome of southern chivalry and bravery by its citizens and supporters. Those in the north thought otherwise. They saw a dare devil, ruffian and marauder who was a constant threat to the Union army and the men of the 4th OVC.


Morgan was born in Alabama, but, due to his father's financial losses, moved at the age of six with his parents and siblings to Lexington, Kentucky. John grew up among his mother's relatives and came to love Kentucky and regarded it as his homeland as much as they did.


As a young man John Hunt Morgan attended Transylvania College, the first college west of the Allegheny Mountains, for a short time but was expelled for dueling with a fraternity brother. He went on to enlist with the 1st Kentucky Cavalry during the Mexican American War. There Morgan made a name for himself at the Battle of Buena Vista. This combat experience solidified his path for the rest of his life.


Back home, John established himself as a hemp manufacturer but his love of the military led him to establish a militia known as the Lexington Rifles. He equipped this group out of his own pocket. There was no doubt once war was declared in 1861 Morgan would throw his support behind the Confederacy along with his militia. The Lexington Rifles joined the 2nd Kentucky Cavalry with John Hunt Morgan becoming the regiment's colonel.


The 2nd Kentucky Cavalry soon saw action at the Battle of Shiloh. Morgan was assigned to Joseph Wheeler’s division in Gen. Braxton Bragg’s Army of Tennessee. His gutsy behavior during battle soon spread throughout the south. Many saw a solid Confederate future through the gritty military actions of John Hunt Morgan.


The 4th OVC saw Morgan in an entirely different light, though. Morgan and his men spent the summer of 1862 laying waste to railroads, tunnels, bridges and telegraph lines. They seized supplies, stole horses and food from civilians, took numerous Union soldiers as prisoners and did whatever possible to create chaos and sabotage the Union forces. The raids were quick, the results devastating, and all without the Union laying a hand on Morgan. He was nicknamed “Thunderbolt of the Confederacy”.


Morgan perfected the ploy of disguising himself and his troops as Union cavalryman. Many accounts of homes and businesses being ransacked, supplies taken and property destroyed were attributed to northern soldiers when it was in fact Hunt and his men dressed as Union Cavalry.


Morgan also had the uncanny ability to execute guerrilla operations. His men were adept at hit and run movements that harassed the flank of Buell's army. Many Union soldiers were shot and killed including the 4th's Captain Jesse Wilson of Co. D. Morgan's men ambushed him from the cover of underbrush as he was setting the pickets, they stripped his body (presumably to use his uniform for another deception) and left him to die.


March1862 brought one of Morgan's more daring moves. He and his men captured a wagon train loaded with supplies headed for the 4th OVC. Also taken prisoner were more than 50 men and their horses and mules. The wagons some still loaded with supplies were set on fire.  


This hijack occurred shortly after Captain Wilson's death. Enraged the 4th's Colonel Kennett with four companies mounted and went after Morgan and the booty. The men of the 4th raced after Morgan for nearly 15 miles of wooded, rocky paths. They negotiated muddy streams and twisted underbrush. The Confederate's path was easy to follow as they tossed out canteens, overcoats, blankets and other spoils from their raid.


The 4th finally caught up to Morgan and quite a skirmish took place between the 4th and the Morgan's men, eventually leading to hand to hand combat. During the fight Morgan released most of the prisoners. The stolen horses were recovered by the 4th but the wily Morgan escaped across Stones River, leaving a couple of his men dead and a few captured.


Morgan's constant badgering of the Union army did not go unnoticed in the congress of the Confederacy and in December 1862 he was promoted to brigadier general. 



Yet John Hunt Morgan's most notorious exploit came during the next summer in 1863. The south was staggered by their defeats at Gettysburg and Vicksburg. Hopes for the success of the confederacy were fading. So against specific orders from General Bragg, Morgan and about 2,500 men crossed the Ohio River. They went on a 24 day rampage through southern Indiana and Ohio. The goal was to divert Union troops from Tennessee and maybe even add to Confederate recruiting but instead involved incredible ransacking and stealing. Their crusade certainly played well in the press. Northerners were fearful and Southerners were gleeful at Morgan's success riding east. Villages and towns in his path were burned leaving massive destruction and few valuables. That is until Morgan and his men were captured at Salineville, Ohio on July 26, 1863. 


Along with his officers Morgan was sent to the new Ohio State Penitentiary and his soldiers to Camp Chase. Not one to languish in prison, by November 1863 Morgan and six of his officers were able to tunnel through the floor of their cells, crawl through an underground air duct into the inner yard and climb the prison wall with bed covers tied together to make a rope. This successfully daring prison escape secured the infamy of John Hunt Morgan throughout the south.


Once outside the prison walls the men split up. Morgan and his aide Thomas Hines made their way back across the Ohio River and into the security of the South. Defying his orders General Bragg was none too pleased with Morgan's Raid across the Ohio. It wasn't until August 1864 that Morgan was eventually put in command of the Trans-Allegheny Department, which handled Confederate troops in eastern Tennessee and southwestern Virginia.


Morgan tried to recreate his former unit but these new men weren't as devoted and loyal as his former troops. In the midst of organizing a raid while in Greenville, TN, Morgan met his fate when he was killed in a surprise attack by Union cavalry in September 1864. He's grave lies in his beloved Lexington, KY.


Was John Hunt Morgan, a dashing Confederate cavalryman or a pillaging, thieving desperado?
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                                 Left: John Hunt Morgan as a Brigadier General.  Below: His grave at the Lexington Cemetery, Lexington, KY
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Tombstone Rubbings 
 – Michael John Neill 

Before anything else, let me say one thing: make certain you do no harm.

It started out as a simple project, and it mushroomed. For a 4-H project, we were going to have my daughter create rubbings of stones of her ancestors through her great-grandparents. This would provide her with approximately twelve stones to rub—what we felt was a reasonable goal.

Fortunately, we know where all but one of these ancestors was buried (William Apgar, born 1888, Chicago, where are you?) and all but three are within one hundred miles of our home. I was in for a learning experience as well. Despite the number of cemeteries I have visited, I had never made a tombstone rubbing.

The stones used for the project were all relatively recent. The dates of death ranged from the 1920s to several years ago. Consequently, even though stones are not necessarily erected immediately upon someone's death the ones we would be using would be relatively easy to rub. For our 4-H project there were no old soft stones with weathered inscriptions on insecure mountings.

Of course as a genealogist, I was not content with just working on relatively recent stones that were easy to read and contained information I already knew. I was more interested personally in the older stones. While rubbings are an excellent way to preserve a stone's inscription, they are also a good way to help the family historian to read stones that are partially illegible. However, as I learned, rubbings are not the only way to attempt to read an old, weathered tombstone.

Practice First
As a general piece of advice, I would advise practicing on local stones first. This is especially advised if you have never made rubbings and plan to do it while on a research trip. The ability to get good rubbings takes a little bit of practice and experimentation with materials. The first rubbings I made were far from excellent. The time to practice is at home when you have the time. Your first rubbing should not be done on the last day of your trip, 800 miles from home, 50 miles from a motel and when it looks like rain is imminent.

General Advice
Before making any rubbings:

1) Obtain permission (if possible) to make the rubbings from the cemetery or the sexton. They might even have additional information and be able to help you locate the stone more easily than walking through and visiting each stone. Some cemeteries do not allow rubbings and in some areas it is against the law to do so. Tombstones should be treated as the fragile works of art they are.

2) Obtain permission from the landowner where the cemetery is located if it is an abandoned rural cemetery. Getting shot while making a cemetery rubbing is not advised.

Learn about Making Rubbings
How to do Gravestone Rubbings at SavingGraves.org: www.savinggraves.org/education/print/rubbings.htm

There is excellent advice here on materials needed for making rubbings. Personally, I would try a variety of media: crayons and charcoal in particular. Different stones respond differently. I would also have a variety of rubbing media in my cemetery rubbing kit.

Supplies

Soft Brush—if you must, but no metal ones. Metal bristles can damage inscriptions, especially ones on soft stones. Leave your scouring pads at home. I generally only use the brush to get the bird droppings off more recent stones and do not use the brush on the inscription. Even getting the lichen off old stones may cause some of the stone to come off as well. You are not at the cemetery to re-carve the stone.

Water Bottles—to drink, and to GENTLY clean the stone and yourself. Leave abrasive cleaners at home. Do not rub old stones vigorously and do not use household cleaners on the stone; you are not cleaning your bathroom toilet.

Kneeling Pads—like the ones used for gardening. If you plan to work on several stones and your knees have seen several decades of adult life, you will be glad to have a cushion.

Towels or Rags—for GENTLY cleaning the stone and yourself. Again, you are not cleaning your bathroom. If you feel a need to clean something in a harsh manner, go wash your car after making rubbings.

An Old Blanket—in case you need to sit on the wet ground.

Old, Comfortable Clothes—making tombstone rubbings can be dirty work. Heels, hose, and that $500 dress are best left at home.

Hand Cleaner—your hands will get dirty, especially if you use chalk or charcoal to make the rubbings.

Handheld Grass Clippers—unless you want to pull the grass with your hands. Do not bring a weed whacker.

Rubbing Surface—some type of paper or light interfacing (Pellon is one brand). Getting paper in rolls allows you to more easily handle larger surfaces. Thin papers are okay, but easier to tear. If you use interfacing, make certain it does not contain adhesive dots.

Rubbing Material—crayon, charcoal, chalk. Keep in mind that a hard rubbing material, such as crayon, may actually damage a tombstone made from a soft type of stone.

Garbage Bag—so you can take your mess home with you. Do not leave litter in the cemetery. Peel crayons before getting to the cemetery.

Paper Attacher—tape may leave residue on the stone, which may accelerate the aging process. If you do choose to use tape, make certain you clean it off afterward. Rubber bands can also be strung together to make a larger band that will accommodate larger stones.

Fixative—a non-yellowing fixative is best to make certain the charcoal or crayon stays on the rubbing surface.

Paper Transporter—a tube or large portfolio to put your rubbings in before taking them home.

Cell Phone—if you are with a research partner, you can call each other if the cemetery is extremely large. If the cemetery is small and remote, a cell phone may come in handy if there is an accident or if you get hopelessly lost. Accidents do happen in cemeteries.

What to Put on the Stone
Avoid anything other than air and water. A cleaner called Photo Flo is generally considered safe and results in minimal damage to the stone—but again, avoid vigorous cleaning of older stones. Some stones are very fragile and easier to damage than you may think. Wire bristles are a definite no-no, and using your car keys to clean off lichen is not advised either. Car keys on soft stones may do significant damage to the original inscription (would you use car keys to get bird droppings off of your car?). The Center for Gravestone Studies has cleaning suggestions and other helpful information at www.gravestonestudies.org/faq.htm.

Other Options
A rubbing may not be the only way to obtain a rendering of the transcription. Photos taken with a digital camera at varying angles, settings, etc. may also result in pictures that can be read— especially when the pictures are manipulated with a photo-editing software. And snapping a picture without touching the stone is not going to cause any harm to the original inscription. We found that some of our pictures were significantly more legible than our rubbings.

Be Careful
Not all stones are on secure mountings and stones can topple easily. If the stone appears wobbly or sounds hollow when you gently knock on it, do not attempt to make a rubbing. You may inadvertently knock over the stone. The stone may break or crumble into several pieces. If the stone is a large one, it may fall on you, leaving you lying under the illegible inscription until help arrives.

Time May Be Crucial
There was one stone I last viewed fifteen years ago. When I saw it this summer, I was surprised at how much it appeared to have aged. If there are old stones you have never read, rubbed, or photographed, consider putting this on your genealogy "to-do" list.



Michael John Neill is the Course I Coordinator at the Genealogical Institute of Mid America (GIMA) held annually in Springfield, Illinois, and is also on the faculty of Carl Sandburg College in Galesburg, Illinois. Michael is the Web columnist for the FGS FORUM and is on the editorial board of the Illinois State Genealogical Society Quarterly. He conducts seminars and lectures on a wide variety of genealogical and computer topics and contributes to several genealogical publications, including Ancestry and Genealogical Computing. You can email him at: mjnrootdig@myfamily.com or visit his website at: www.rootdig.com/, but he regrets that he is unable to assist with personal research.
We think that the inline roller skate is something new.  Check out this 1862 ad:
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Songs They Sang
The first known printed text of a song with this name appeared in the serial song collection The Charms of Melody, Dublin, Ireland, issue no. 72, printed in Dublin from 1791

Though there are many versions, these are the lyrics popularized by the army during the Civil War:
The Girl I left Behind

I'm lonesome since I crossed the hill

And over the moor that's sedgy

Such lonely thoughts my heart do fill

Since parting with my Betsey
I seek for one as fair and gay

But find none to remind me

How sweet the hours I passed away

With the girl I left behind me

The Confederates had their own version:

Old Abe lies sick, Old Abe lies sick

Old Abe lies sick in bed

He's a lying dog, a crying dog

And I wish that he was dead
Jeff Davis is a gentleman

Abe Lincoln is a fool

Jeff Davis rides a big white horse

And Lincoln rides a mule
Hear the song at: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eIw8m9ogJKE
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Blind Man’s Bluff

One person is blindfolded, and all other guests scatter around the room. When the blindfolded person catches someone, they then have to tell who it is they have captured or the prisoner is then freed and the blind man must continue his/her pursuit until he/she can identify the person caught. The blindfold then changes hands.
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Civil War Philately
                                  Bob Venable

Women played a large part in the Civil War.  According to President Lincoln, a woman may have started the war.  That woman was Harriet Beecher Stowe.  She moved to Cincinnati, Ohio at age 21 with her father, Lyman Beecher who had been appointed president of that city’s Lane Theological Seminary.  She married Calvin E. Stowe, a professor at the Seminary and the family later moved to Maine.  Of course, Harriet is best known as the author of Uncle Tom’s Cabin.  Lincoln, upon meeting her, is reputed to have said “So you’re the little woman who wrote the book that started this great war!”  


The U.S. Postal Service honored Mrs. Stowe with her own stamp, Scott 3430, on June 13, 2007, pictured here.
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I was fortunate enough to attend a postal ceremony at her Cincinnati home that day where I secured an envelope bearing the stamp and a picture of the Stowe House.  
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Other women were 
prominent during the war itself.  And who could be more prominent than Dr. Mary Walker, surgeon, spy, prisoner of war, and the only female recipient of the Medal of Honor for service during the Civil War.  Her appearance on Scott 2013 in 1982 was an honor richly deserved.
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Two other women made their stamp debuts in 1983 and 1987, respectively.  The first was Dorothea Dix, the Union Army Superintendent of Nurses (Scott 1844) and Julia Ward Howe who wrote The Battle Hymn of the Republic (Scott 2177).  
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And speaking of nurses, the Post Office also recognized Clara Barton who was known as “The Angel of the Battlefield.”

She went on to found the American Red Cross.  Her efforts in establishing Andersonville National Cemetery at the Union prison there in Georgia were truly noteworthy (see Apr- June 2013 issue).  A monument was erected on the prison grounds in her honor.  Her stamp is Scott 967, issued in 1948.
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Many, many women have written about the Civil War, but one stands out among the rest as being perhaps the best known of such authors; and her book was not even an historical account, but rather, a novel.  Of course I speak of Margaret Mitchell, author of Gone with the Wind.  Margaret has her own individual stamp, Scott 2168, issued in 1986, plus a 1990 stamp recognizing the Clark Gable/Janet Leigh movie based on the book, Scott 2446.
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If I could slip in one male author of the Civil War who has appeared on a U.S. postage Stamp, I would choose Lincoln’s definitive biographer, Carl Sandburg who got his stamp in 1977, Scott 1731.

[image: image76.png]




A southern gentleman and Confederate soldier demands equal time when speaking of authors on stamps.  Sidney Clopton Lanier was a 19 year-old Confederate Private in the 2nd Georgia Battalion, Macon Volunteers (later Co. I, 4th Ga. Infantry).  After the Seven Days’ Battle near Richmond, Lanier transferred to the signal corps but was captured while commanding the blockade-runner Lucy.  His time as a prisoner at Point Lookout, Florida inspired his novel, Tiger-Lillies, about his experiences there.  Lanier wrote many books and shorter works, including a poem The Dying Words of Jackson after he visited Chancellorsville battlefield where “Stonewall” died.  Lanier was just 28 when he died on September 7, 1881 of tuberculosis he contracted while a prisoner.  His stamp is Scott 1446, issued February 2, 1972.
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
What is it?
From page 28:  US Cavalry horse brush found in the streets of Charlottesville, Virginia, by a Confederate soldier in January of 1865.
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Letters from the Front
HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE SOUTH,

Hilton Head, S. C., September 5, 1864.

Major General SAMUEL JONES,

Commanding Confederate Forces Dept. of S. C., Ga., and Fla.:

GENERAL: I am informed by an officer recently arrived from Charleston that James Pike, of the Fourth Ohio Cavalry, and Charles R. Gray, of Fifth Iowa Cavalry, are held by you in close confinement at the jail tower in Charleston, and kept upon a prison diet of mush and water. Also that these men have been informed that they are held and are to be tried as spies. I further learn that they were captured on or about June 5 last, near the Hiwassee River, in Southeastern Tennessee or the northwestern part of South Carolina, and that, when taken, they were wearing our uniform and had arms in their hands. If their claim in this respect is true, they are entitled to be treated as prisoners of war.  I respectfully ask you to have their case investigated and extend to them the treatment usually accorded to prisoners of war among civilized nations.

I am, very respectfully, yours,

J. G. FOSTER,

Major General, Commanding.
HDQRS. DEPT. OF S. CAROLINA, GEORGIA, AND FLORIDA,

Charleston, S. C., September 10, 1864.

Major General J. G. FOSTER, U. S. Volunteers,

Commanding Department of the South, Hilton Head:

GENERAL: In reply to your letter of the 5th instant in regard to James Pike and Charles R. Gray, I have to say that they were arrested in Edgefield District of this State. They were not in U. S. uniform when captured, and but about their persons certain papers which warranted the belief that they were spies. They are confined, as is usual in such cases, and will be accorded a fair trial.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

SAM. JONES,

Major General, Commanding.
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From Our Field Correspondents
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DEPARTMENT OF THE CUMBERLAND.
Particnlars of the Defeat of Morgan by
Gen. Stanley.

The Rebels Driven from Three
Separate Positions.

ANOTHER DASHING CAVALRY AFFAIR.

Cinoinxan, Tuesday, April 7.
Dispatches from Murfreesboro give the follow-

ing account of the fight near Snow Kill:

On the 2d inst. Gen. SraxrLxy, with two thousand
cavalry, and Col. MarTaEws’ infantry brigade, started
to capture Moraan’s and WrArToN’s Elghth regiment

of infantry and cavalry at Snow Hill.
Beyond Auburn they drove in the rebel pickets.

The Seventh Pennsylvania cavalry turned the rebel
right, while MinTy’s’ and PArmoxn’s cavalry brigade,

with NxwzLl's baitery, moved up in front. The
enemy fled.





[image: image80.jpg]The enemy’s pickets were then encountered west
of Liberty, and a considerable force of rebels were
posted on the bluffs on the opposite side of Smith's
Ford. They resisted and were driven back and
formed again on Dry Fork. from whence they were
again driven. '

The rebels then formed a third and stronger line on
Snow Hill. The Secoud and Fourth Ohio cavalry
were sent to the enemy’s rear. They charged with
sabres in hand and broke the line of the rebels, when
the fight ended in the flight of the rebels.

The rebel loss was from fifieen to twenty killed, a
number wounded, and sixty prisoners,

Gen. SraxLEY also captured thirty horses and mules
and a quantity of bacon and wheat, and destroyed
considerable forage.

The position of the rebels defeated Gen. StaxnrLey’s
intention to surround and capture them. They es-
caped with their guns.

Our Joss was one private of the Seventh Pennsyl-
vania cavalry, and two slightly wounded.

Gen. Staxrey returned to Murfreesboro by way of
Lebanon, capturing six prisoners at the latter point.

1t is reported that the gunboat Lexington and some
other boat shelled the town of Florence, Alabama, on
the 2d inst., and drove away a company of rebel cav-
alry stationed there.





Pictures from the War
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Rebel artillery captured at Missionary Ridge at Headquarters Army of the Cumberland
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View of Nashville from Ft. Negley 1864
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Major General George Thomas’s Council of War at Camp Ringgold, with officers from the Army of the Cumberland.
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Rebel prisoners of war at train depot, Chattanooga, TN.
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20th Maine reunion unknown date.
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Ferry boat converted to gunboat
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